
  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

Planning Commission 
  
 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

Date:   3/25/2024 
Time:  7:00 p.m. 
Location:  Zoom.us/join – ID# 858 7073 1001 and  
  City Council Chambers 
  751 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 
 

 
Members of the public can listen to the meeting and participate using the following methods. 
 
How to participate in the meeting 

• Access the live meeting, in-person, at the City Council Chambers  
• Access the meeting real-time online at:  

zoom.us/join – Meeting ID# 858 7073 1001 
• Access the meeting real-time via telephone (listen only mode) at:  

(669) 900-6833 
Regular Meeting ID # 858 7073 1001 
Press *9 to raise hand to speak 

• Submit a written comment online up to 1-hour before the meeting start time: 
planning.commission@menlopark.gov* 
Please include the agenda item number related to your comment. 

 
*Written comments are accepted up to 1 hour before the meeting start time. Written messages are 
provided to the Planning Commission at the appropriate time in their meeting.  

Subject to change: The format of this meeting may be altered or the meeting may be canceled. You may 
check on the status of the meeting by visiting the city website menlopark.gov. The instructions for logging on 
to the webinar and/or the access code is subject to change. If you have difficulty accessing the webinar, 
please check the latest online edition of the posted agenda for updated information 
(menlopark.gov/agendas). 
  

  

https://zoom.us/join
https://zoom.us/join
http://menlopark.gov/
http://menlopark.gov/agendas


Planning Commission Regular Meeting Agenda 
March 25, 2024 
Page 2 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

Regular Meeting 
 
A. Call To Order 

 
B. Roll Call 

 
C. Reports and Announcements 

 
D.  Public Comment  

 Under “Public Comment,” the public may address the Commission on any subject not listed on the 
agenda. Each speaker may address the Commission once under public comment for a limit of three 
minutes. You are not required to provide your name or City of residence, but it is helpful. The 
Commission cannot act on items not listed on the agenda and, therefore, the Commission cannot 
respond to non-agenda issues brought up under Public Comment other than to provide general 
information. 
 

E.  Consent Calendar 

E1. Approval of minutes of March 27, 2023, Planning Commission meeting. (Attachment) 

E2. Approval of minutes of February 26, 2024, Planning Commission meeting. (Attachment) 

E3. Approval of minutes of March 11, 2024, Planning Commission meeting. (Attachment) 

F.  Public Hearing 

F1. Use Permit/Rucha Shah/108 Blackburn Avenue:  
Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use permit to remodel and add first- and second-story 
additions to an existing nonconforming one-story, single-family residence on a lot that is 
substandard with regard to minimum lot width, depth and area in the R-1-U (Single Family Urban 
Residential) zoning district, at 108 Blackburn Avenue. The proposed work would exceed 50 percent 
of the replacement value of the existing nonconforming structure over a 12-month period and would 
also exceed 50 percent of the existing floor area and therefore is considered equivalent to a new 
structure; determine this action is categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines Section 15301’s 
Class 1 exemption for existing facilities. (Staff Report #24-015-PC) 

F2. Use Permit/Linder Jones/919 Arnold Way: 
Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use permit to partially demolish, remodel, and add 
first- and second-story additions to an existing nonconforming single-story, single-family residence in 
the R-1-U (Single Family Urban Residential) zoning district, at 919 Arnold Way. The proposed work 
would exceed 50 percent of the replacement value of the existing nonconforming structure in a 12-
month period. The applicant is also requesting to maintain a wall six feet in height within the front 
setback at approximately 14.8 feet from the property line; determine this action is categorically 
exempt under CEQA Guidelines Section 15301’s Class 1 exemption for existing facilities. The 
proposal includes the addition of an Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU), which is a permitted use and 
not subject to discretionary review. (Staff Report #24-016-PC) 

  



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Agenda 
March 25, 2024 
Page 3 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

F3. Development Agreement Annual Review/Stanford University/200-500 El Camino Real (Middle Plaza 
at 500 El Camino Real Project): 
Consider and adopt a resolution to determine that Stanford University (“Stanford”) has demonstrated 
good faith compliance with the provisions of the Middle Plaza at 500 El Camino Real Development 
Agreement for the period of May 2022 through March 2024. Review of the Development Agreement 
does not qualify as a project under CEQA. (Staff Report #24-017-PC) 

F4. Development Agreement Annual Review/Cyrus Sanandaji, Presidio Bay Ventures/1300 El Camino 
Real and 550 Oak Grove Avenue: 
Consider and adopt a resolution to determine that Presidio Bay Ventures has demonstrated good 
faith compliance with the provisions of the Springline mixed-use development project (“Springline”) 
Development Agreement, located at 1300 El Camino Real, for the period of October 2021 through 
March 2024. Review of the Development Agreement does not qualify as a project under CEQA.  
(Staff Report #24-018-PC) 

G. Informational Items 

G1. Future Planning Commission Meeting Schedule – The upcoming Planning Commission meetings 
are listed here, for reference. No action will be taken on the meeting schedule, although individual 
Commissioners may notify staff of planned absences. 

 
• Regular Meeting: April 15, 2024 
• Regular Meeting: April 29, 2024 

 
H.  Adjournment  
  

At every regular meeting of the Planning Commission, in addition to the public comment period where the public shall have 
the right to address the Planning Commission on any matters of public interest not listed on the agenda, members of the 
public have the right to directly address the Planning Commission on any item listed on the agenda at a time designated by 
the chair, either before or during the Planning Commission’s consideration of the item.  
 
At every special meeting of the Planning Commission, members of the public have the right to directly address the 
Planning Commission on any item listed on the agenda at a time designated by the chair, either before or during 
consideration of the item. For appeal hearings, appellant and applicant shall each have 10 minutes for presentations.  
 
If you challenge any of the items listed on this agenda in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues you or 
someone else raised at the public hearing described in this notice, or in written correspondence delivered to the City of 
Menlo Park at, or before, the public hearing. 
 
Any writing that is distributed to a majority of the Planning Commission by any person in connection with an agenda item is 
a public record (subject to any exemption under the Public Records Act) and is available by request by emailing the city 
clerk at jaherren@menlopark.gov. Persons with disabilities, who require auxiliary aids or services in attending or 
participating in Planning Commission meetings, may call the City Clerk’s Office at 650-330-6620.  
 
Agendas are posted in accordance with Cal. Gov. Code §54954.2(a) or §54956. Members of the public can view electronic 
agendas and staff reports by accessing the city website at menlopark.gov/agendas and can receive email notifications of 
agenda postings by subscribing at menlopark.gov/subscribe. Agendas and staff reports may also be obtained by 
contacting City Clerk at 650-330-6620. (Posted: 3/20/2024) 

mailto:jaherren@menlopark.gov
https://menlopark.gov/agendas
https://menlopark.gov/susbscribe


  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov  

Planning Commission 
  
REGULAR MEETING DRAFT MINUTES 

Date:   03/27/2023 
Time:  7:00 p.m. 
Location:  Zoom.us/join – ID# 862 5880 9056 and  
  Council Chambers 
  751 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 

 
A. Call To Order 

 
Acting Chair Cynthia Harris called the meeting to order at 7:03 p.m. 
 

B. Roll Call 
 

Present: Cynthia Harris (Acting Chair), Linh Dan Do, Henry Riggs, Jennifer Schindler, Michele Tate 
 
Absent: Andrew Barnes  
 
Staff: Theresa Avedian, Senior Civil Engineer; Christine Begin, Planning Technician; Fahteen Khan, 
Associate Planner; Corinna Sandmeier, Principal Planner; Chris Turner, Associate Planner 
 

C. Reports and Announcements 
 
 None 

 
D.  Public Comment  
 
 None 
  
E.  Consent Calendar 
 
 Acting Chair Harris opened the Consent Calendar for public comment and closed it as no persons 

requested to speak. 
  
E1. Approval of minutes from the December 5, 2022, Planning Commission meeting. (Attachment) 

 
ACTION: Motion and second (Riggs/Schindler) to approve the minutes from the December 5, 2022 
Planning Commission meeting; passes 3-0 with Commissioners Harris and Tate abstaining, and 
Commissioner Barnes absent. 
 

E2. Architectural Control/Alex G Ross/120 Constitution Drive: 
Consider and adopt a resolution to approve an architectural control permit to modify the exterior of 
an existing building in the R-MU-B (Residential Mixed Use District) zoning district; determine this 
action is categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines Section 15301’s Class 1 exemption for 
existing facilities. The proposed changes include painting the street facing awning, removal of metal 
awnings and replacement with wood awnings, repainting the building, window changes and the 
addition of a new enclosed, uncovered patio. (Staff Report #23-022-PC) 

 
 ACTION: Motion and second (Schindler/Riggs) to adopt a resolution to approve an architectural 

  

https://zoom.us/join


Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
March 27, 2023 
Page 2 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov  

control permit to modify the exterior of an existing building in the R-MU-B (Residential Mixed Use 
District) zoning district and determine this action is categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines 
Section 15301’s Class 1 exemption for existing facilities; passes 5-0 with Commissioner Barnes 
absent. 

 
F.  Public Hearing 
 
F1. Use Permit/City of Menlo Park/100 Terminal Avenue:  

Consider and adopt a resolution to deny a use permit to exceed the maximum nighttime noise limit 
of 50 dBA, measured at residential property lines, to accommodate electric pool heating equipment 
for the Menlo Park Community Campus located at 100 Terminal Avenue. Continued from meeting 
of 2/27/23. (Staff Report #23-023-PC)  
 
Associate Planner Chris Turner said several emails were received after publication of the staff report 
that in general those supported denying the use permit and one suggesting that reducing noise 
levels below the maximum requirements be included in the staff report as was mentioned in 
discussion at the February 27 meeting.  
 
Acting Chair Harris said she reviewed the February 27 video of this item, and the motion included a 
request to do further noticing as the continuation was to a date not certain, a request for additional 
canvassing of the community, and urging staff and the applicant to target something less than the 50 
decibels versus meeting the city’s noise requirement. She asked why those were not included in the 
staff report for this meeting. 
 
Planner Turner said the noise level code requirement was not within the Planning Commission’s 
purview. He said staff could update the resolution to indicate that desire, but it was not doable as a 
condition of approval and not on a denial of the use permit. He said city engineers were looking at 
ways to reduce the noise levels. He said they did standard noticing and Library and Community 
Services staff hand delivered additional letters to the community noticing the item for tonight’s 
meeting.  
 
Acting Chair Harris asked how they could amend the staff report to reflect the information from the 
video. Planner Turner said that the commission in making the motion to deny the project could  
request that the resolution be amended to the request. Acting Chair Harris said she would like the 
staff report for this agenda amended to illustrate those items that were in the original motion.  
 
Principal Planner Sandmeier said this staff report had been published prior to the meeting to inform 
the commission and the public about the item that would be heard. She said if the request was 
another continuation to update the staff report and the resolution that could be done. She said the 
discussion tonight would be reflected in the minutes so if the motion were to deny the project per the 
resolution that staff drafted that the motion could certainly include additional information that could 
be added as whereas statements in the resolution.  
 
Acting Chair Harris said that was what was done at the February 27 meeting so she wondered what 
would be different this time if they did the same thing they did previously.  
 
Planner Sandmeier said staff apologized if it did not capture the motion correctly from February 27 
which sounded like the case. She said the options would be to continue the item with this direction to 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
March 27, 2023 
Page 3 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov  

staff to bring back a revised resolution or for staff to update the resolution after this meeting per a 
motion and vote tonight.  
 
Commissioner Tate said when the staff report was published that it should be published accurately 
as otherwise it did not seem that it was noticed properly so she would support continuing to a future 
meeting.  
 
Acting Chair Harris opened the public hearing. 
 
Public Comment: 
 
• Ruby (no last name given) said staff should find an electric heater that was not noisy and said as 

a child she did not want her home where she would live for years to have noise issues. 
 

• Eduardo (no last name given) supported denial of the project. 
 
• No Name Given (Belle Haven Library) said she appreciated the questions raised and that there 

should be a continuation of canvassing and notice in bilingual languages and when a decision 
was made that the noise be less than the maximum allowed.  

 
Acting Chair Harris closed the public hearing. 
 
Commissioner Riggs asked if any progress had been made by engineers and technicians in the four 
weeks since this item was heard last by the commission.  
 
Theresa Avedian, Senior Civil Engineer, said they continued to look at various options to reduce 
noise levels. She said one of the most immediate actions they were taking was looking at the 
modeling and making sure it was taking all the input that determined the amount of runtime and 
hours of operation for the heat pumps to be as accurate as they could be. She said they hoped to 
have an update by the end of next week. She said they had other options to look at that would have 
costs and schedule impacts so they would need direction on those.  
 
Commissioner Do said the conclusion of the staff report said the team would continue to evaluate 
alternatives that would allow the project to operate without the use of natural gas while meeting the 
noise requirements. She said that residents should not have to choose between clear air and quiet. 
She said also the community’s and commission’s desire was that options explored would not 
compromise the scheduling and temperatures of the pool as compared to the Burgess pool. She 
said she did not see that point in the staff report. 
 
Ms. Avedian said they were aware of the desire to have both pools have the same temperature and 
hours of operation and were working under the assumption that those would be the same. 
 
Acting Chair Harris said Angela Evans had sent an email with three suggestions and asked if those 
had been considered.  
 
Planner Turner said staff had not received that email. Acting Chair Harris said she would forward the 
email to staff. 
 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
March 27, 2023 
Page 4 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov  

Commissioner Tate said she would like the item to be continued noting they were waiting for 
additional information and Commissioner Do had noticed another point that had not been included in 
the staff report.  
 
Sean Reinhardt, Belle Haven Library Community Services Director, said he had received the email 
from Ms. Evans, and he believed she sent it to the City Council list. He said he did not receive the 
email from Karen Grove, but it sounded like those emails were similar and offered specific ideas 
about different equipment or some other sort of technical considerations. He said that the item 
before the commission was whether to approve the use permit to allow the project to exceed the 
overnight noise limit. He said on February 27th the Planning Commission was inclined to deny the 
use permit and any solutions that involved reducing the noise to an extent that a permit was not 
required and was no longer a matter of issue for the Planning Commission. He encouraged the 
Commission to act as recommended tonight so the project scheduling could be maintained. 
 
Commissioner Schindler asked what impact continuation would have on delivering amenities to the 
community.  
 
Planner Turner said construction would continue the Menlo Park Community Center (MPCC) noting 
the building was underway. He said he agreed it would be best to act on the item tonight and deny 
the request for increased noise as other solutions would be outside the commission’s purview and 
staff would need further direction from city council depending upon those solutions.  
 
Mr. Reinhardt said clarity on the use permit request would be quite helpful to know whether the 
noise ordinance might be exceeded or not. He said delaying a determination on that would delay 
some of the operational planning.  
 
Planner Sandmeier said she thought there was a concern about noticing. She said the notice that 
went out was correct. She said she understood that the staff report might not have fully covered the 
last hearing, but those concerns were now on the record. She said she did not know if continuing the 
item would make anything any clearer for anyone or change the outcome.  
 
Acting Chair Harris asked if the commission did not take action to approve the resolution to deny 
whether that would actually impact construction costs. She asked whether they otherwise were on 
time with construction costs. She asked whether they would continue to seek other lower decibel 
options whether the commission took up the motion tonight.  
 
Mr. Reinhardt said the Planning Commission first considered this item in October of 2022 and it was 
now March 2023. He said if the permit were denied it was very clear that the noise levels could not 
be exceeded overnight and that was a certain path to operational planning and also focusing on 
possible solutions with the equipment. He said if it remained not determined then they had multiple 
options on the table to consider for operational planning as well as whether they needed to make 
modifications to the equipment. He said it would be quite helpful to get an action tonight.  
 
Commissioner Tate said she watched the video of this item from the last meeting, and it was clear 
the motion included denying the request to exceed the 50 decibels level but that it also included a 
request that they try to be below that level. She said it was understood that it was not in the purview 
of the planning commission, however legal counsel was there and acknowledged that it was 
something that they could put forward. She said she was confused why that did not make it into the 
staff report as it was significant. She said that was completely different than the commission just 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
March 27, 2023 
Page 5 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov  

wanting to deny the request to exceed 50 decibels at night. She said she could not see how 
continuing would throw the project off as construction on the community center was continuing and 
the engineer who spoke tonight said they were still trying to evaluate costs in exploring other 
options. She said if the item came back to the Planning Commission once all that information was 
gathered, she thought the project would still be on track. She said it concerned her that two issues 
did not make it into the staff report and were not addressed.  
 
Commissioner Riggs said Commissioner Tate did an excellent job of expressing that the project was 
moving forward in construction, it already had a permit, and this request was brought to the 
commission less than eight weeks ago and continued to tonight. He said regrettably staff missed the 
opportunity to put in the wording that the commission went to some trouble to request but that was 
now clarified. He said he thought they could continue to a date certain or again to four weeks ahead 
to act on the item.  
 
Commissioner Schindler said if they did not pass the resolution to deny the use permit tonight and 
they continued to some date in the future that there was nothing in the current analysis that would 
cause her to change her vote. She said at the date in the future this was continued to that she would 
be inclined still to support denying the use permit. She said the only ambiguity created for staff and 
the people working on the community center was the small chance that the commission did not 
approve the resolution to deny the use permit. 
 
Commissioner Riggs moved to continue the item to a date certain. 
 
Acting Chair Harris asked if the motion should include language to continue to correct the original 
motion and staff report to include the three items noted into the staff report. Commissioner Riggs 
said that was fine with him. 
 
Acting Chair Harris said one item was to request further noticing which was already required since 
the previous continuation was to a date not certain, a request for additional canvassing which 
seemed to have been done by the Library Commission, a request to staff to target something that 
would be less than 50 decibels and not just meet the maximum city requirement, and lastly that the 
hours and level of temperature at this pool be the same as what the Burgess pool had. She asked 
staff to speak to the three requirements of the motion. 

 
 
Planner Sandmeier said if the item was continued to the April 10 meeting noticing would not need to 
occur again. 
 
Commissioner Tate said she was uncomfortable with not noticing the community that would be 
impacted.  
 
Planner Sandmeier said continuing to April 24th would allow time for noticing. 
 
Commissioner Tate said her preference was to notice and there were more people at the library this 
evening for this item than had been at the February 27 hearing.  
 
Replying to Chair Harris, Planner Turner said the motion was to continue to the April 24, 2023 
meeting and to notice using the standard notice but not to canvas, target noise levels lower than 50 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
March 27, 2023 
Page 6 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov  

decibels, and provide the same level of service as Burgess Pool while not restricting the residents’ 
access to clean air and quiet. 
 
Commissioner Tate seconded the motion. 
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Riggs/Tate) to continue the item to the April 24, 2023 Planning 
Commission meeting with the following direction; passes 5-0 with Commissioner Barnes absent. 
 
1. Re-notice the item but without canvassing 
2. Target noise levels below 50 decibels 
3. Provide the same level of service as Burgess Pool while not restricting residents’ access to clean 

air and quiet 
 

F2. Use Permit/Gary McClure/1145 Hidden Oaks Drive: 
Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use permit to add to and remodel an existing 
nonconforming single-story, single-family residence in the R-1-S (Single-Family Suburban 
Residential) zoning district; determine this action is categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines 
Section 15303’s Class 3 exemption for new construction or conversion of small structures. The 
proposed work would exceed 75 percent of the replacement value of the existing nonconforming 
structure in a 12-month period. (Staff Report #23-024-PC) 
 
Associate Planner Fahteen Khan provided an update to the data table on page 103 of Attachment C 
to the staff report, which was to correct the maximum allowable building coverage from 40% to 
35.7% of the lot size or 3,597.6 square feet 
 
Kate Martin, property owner, and Gary McClure, project architect, spoke on behalf of the project. 
 
Acting Chair Harris opened the public hearing and closed it as no persons requested to speak. 
 
ACTION: Motion and second (Riggs/Schindler) to adopt a resolution to approve a use permit to add 
to and remodel an existing nonconforming single-story, single-family residence in the R-1-S (Single-
Family Suburban Residential) zoning district and determine this action is categorically exempt under 
CEQA Guidelines Section 15303’s Class 3 exemption for new construction or conversion of small 
structures; passes 5-0 with Commissioner Barnes absent. 
 

F3. Architectural Control and Use Permits/Peninsula Innovation Partners, LLC/1350-1390 Willow Road, 
925-1098 Hamilton Avenue, and 1005-1275 Hamilton Court:  
Consider and adopt a resolution to approve an architectural control review for buildings and publicly 
accessible open space site improvements associated with the approved Willow Village masterplan 
development project. The masterplan, including the general plan amendment, rezoning and zoning 
map amendment, vesting tentative maps, conditional development permit, development agreement, 
and below market rate (BMR) housing agreements were approved by the City Council on December 
6 and 13, 2022 and authorize up to 1.6 million square feet of office and accessory uses (with a 
maximum of 1.25 million square feet for office uses and the balance for accessory uses), up to 1,730 
dwelling units (including 312 BMR units), up to 200,000 square feet of retail and restaurant uses, 
and an up to 193 room hotel. The architectural control reviews by the Planning Commission for 
conformance with the approved masterplan, entitlement documents, agreements, mitigation 
monitoring and reporting program from the environmental impact report, and the R-MU (residential 
mixed use) and O (Office) zoning districts is the next phase in the implementation of the Willow 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
March 27, 2023 
Page 7 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  www.menlopark.gov  

Village masterplan project. The requested actions are consistent with the environmental impact 
report prepared for the proposed project and certified by the City Council on December 6, 2022. 
Continued to a future meeting 
 

G. Informational Items 
 
G1. Future Planning Commission Meeting Schedule 
 

• Regular Meeting: April 10, 2023 
 
Planner Sandmeier said the April 10 agenda would include the 1125 O’Brien Drive project draft EIR 
and study session and the 961 El Camino Real project.  
 
• Regular Meeting: April 24, 2023 
 
Planner Sandmeier said the April 24 agenda was not finalized but it looked like the Menlo Park 
Community Center heat pump item would be continued to that meeting.  

 
H.  Adjournment  
  

Acting Chair Harris adjourned the meeting at 8:05 p.m. 
 
Staff Liaison: Corinna Sandmeier, Principal Planner 
 
Recording Secretary: Brenda Bennett 
 



  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

Planning Commission 
  
 
REGULAR MEETING DRAFT MINUTES 

Date:   2/26/2024 
Time:  7:00 p.m. 
Location:  Zoom.us/join – ID# 858 7073 1001 and  
  City Council Chambers 
  751 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 
 

A. Call To Order 
 
Chair Linh Dan Do called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 

B. Roll Call 
 
Present: Linh Dan Do (Chair), Jennifer Schindler (Vice Chair), Andrew Barnes, Andrew Ehrich, Katie 
Ferrick, Ross Silverstein 
 
Absent: Henry Riggs 
 
Staff: Connor Hochleutner, Assistant Planner; Corinna Sandmeier; Principal Planner; Tom Smith, 
Principal Planner 
 

C. Reports and Announcements 
 

Principal Planner Sandmeier announced an upcoming City Council goal setting workshop. 
 

D.  Public Comment  
 
 None 
 
E.  Consent Calendar 

None 

F.  Public Hearing 
 
F1. Use Permit/James Wu/550 Kenwood Drive: Request for a use permit to construct first-story 

additions and interior alterations to an existing nonconforming one-story, single-family residence 
located in the R-1-U (Single Family Urban Residential) zoning district. The proposed work would 
exceed 75 percent of the replacement value of the existing nonconforming structure in a 12-month 
period; Determine this action is categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines Section 15301’s Class 
1 exemption for existing facilities. Continued to the meeting of March 11, 2024 

 
 ACTION: Motion and second (Ferrick/Ehrich) to continue the item to the meeting of March 11, 2024; 

passes 6-0 with Commissioner Riggs absent. 
  

  

https://zoom.us/join


Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
February 26, 2024 
Page 2 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

F2. Use Permit Revision/Fatima Saqib/113 Princeton Road: 
Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use permit revision to add new second-floor area on 
the south-east (right) side by enclosing the existing balcony on a two-story, single-family residence 
on a substandard lot with regard to lot width in the R-1-U (Single Family Urban Residential) zoning 
district. The applicant is also proposing a garage conversion to an accessory dwelling unit (ADU) on 
a separate permit, which is a permitted use; Determine this action is categorically exempt under 
CEQA Guidelines Section 15301’s Class 1 exemption for existing facilities. Continued to the 
meeting of March 11, 2024 

 
 ACTION: Motion and second (Schindler/Ferrick) to continue the item to the meeting of March 11, 

2024; passes 6-0 with Commissioner Riggs absent. 
 
F3. Housing Element Annual Progress Report/City of Menlo Park: 

Consider and adopt a resolution recommending the City Council accept the 2023 annual progress 
report regarding the status and implementation of the City’s current 6th Cycle General Plan Housing 
Element (2023-2031); the Housing Element annual progress report is not considered a project under 
CEQA. (Staff Report #24-012-PC) 

 
 Principal Planner Smith presented the staff report and answered Commissioners’ clarifying 

questions.  
 
 Chair Do opened the public hearing. 
 
 Public Comment: 
 

• Katherine Dumont, District 3, expressed support for development of multifamily housing and 
questioned the methodology of assigning affordability levels to new accessory dwelling units. 

 
Chair Do closed the public hearing. 

  
 The Commission discussed with staff the midpoint of the housing cycle when the state would then 

determine whether or not the city would be subject to SB 35 streamlining for the entitlements 
process and discretionary review, confirmation of annual reporting, progress and completion of 
programs and desire to see programs related to equity and specialized housing needs initiated, 
interest in researching ADU affordability and the impact on the local housing market, and developing 
a framework to proactively determine if housing targets were being met early on and not waiting until 
midcycle review, and confirming Program H4.V had already been completed.  

  
 ACTION: Motion and second (Silverstein/Ferrick) to adopt a resolution recommending the City  

Council accept the 2023 annual progress report regarding the status and implementation of the 
City’s current 6th Cycle General Plan Housing Element (2023-2031) with the following modification; 
passes 6-0 with Commissioner Riggs absent. 
 
• Revise the annual progress report to indicate that Program H4.V has been completed.  

  



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes 
February 26, 2024 
Page 3 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

G. Informational Items 
 
G1. Future Planning Commission Meeting Schedule 
 

• Regular Meeting: March 11, 2024 
 
Planner Sandmeier said the agenda for March 11 would have the two items continued at this 
meeting. 
 
• Regular Meeting: March 25, 2024 

 
H.   Adjournment  
  

Chair Do adjourned the meeting at 7:56 p.m. 
 
 
Staff Liaison: Corinna Sandmeier, Principal Planner 
 
Recording Secretary: Brenda Bennett 



  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

Planning Commission 
  
 
REGULAR MEETING DRAFT MINUTES 

Date:   3/11/2024 
Time:  7:00 p.m. 
Location:  Zoom.us/join – ID# 858 7073 1001 and  
  City Council Chambers 
  751 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 
 

A. Call To Order 
 
Chair Linh Dan Do called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 

B. Roll Call 
 
Present: Linh Dan Do (Chair), Jennifer Schindler (Vice Chair), Andrew Barnes, Andrew Ehrich, Katie 
Ferrick, Henry Riggs, Ross Silverstein 
 
Staff: Christine Begin, Planning Technician; Connor Hochleutner, Assistant Planner; Kyle Perata, 
Assistant Community Development Director 
 

C. Reports and Announcements 
 

Assistant Community Development Director Perata announced the City Council’s annual goal setting 
workshop would be held on March 12, 2024 beginning at 5:00 p.m. 

  
D.  Public Comment  
  
 None 

 
E.  Consent Calendar 
 

Chair Do opened the Consent Calendar for public comment and closed it as no persons requested 
to speak. 
 
Commissioner Riggs said that he would abstain from voting on the minutes and court report 
transcript for the December 18, 2023 Planning Commission meeting. 
 
Commissioner Barnes said that he would abstain from voting on the minutes and court report 
transcript for the December 18, 2023 and minutes for the January 8, 2024 Planning Commission 
meetings. 
 

E1. Approval of minutes and court report transcript from the December 18, 2023, Planning Commission 
meeting. (Attachment) 

 
ACTION: Motion and second (Schindler/Ferrick) to approve the minutes and court report transcript 
for the December 18, 2023 Planning Commission meeting; passes 4-0 with Commissioners Barnes, 
Riggs and Silverstein abstaining. 

  

  

https://zoom.us/join


Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes  
March 11, 2024 
Page 2 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

E2. Approval of minutes from the January 8, 2024, Planning Commission meeting. (Attachment) 
 
 ACTION: Motion and second (Riggs/Ferrick) to approve the minutes from the January 8, 2024 

Planning Commission meeting; passes 5-0 with Commissioners Barnes and Silverstein abstaining. 
  
E3. Approval of minutes from the February 5, Planning Commission meeting. (Attachment) 
 
 ACTION: Motion and second (Ferrick/Ehrich) to approve the minutes from the February 5, Planning 

Commission meeting; passes 7-0. 
  
F.  Public Hearing 
F1. Use Permit/James Wu/550 Kenwood Drive:  

Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use permit to construct first-story additions and interior 
alterations to an existing nonconforming one-story, single-family residence located in the R-1-U 
(Single Family Urban Residential) zoning district. The proposed work would exceed 75 percent of 
the replacement value of the existing nonconforming structure in a 12-month period; determine this 
action is categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines Section 15301’s Class 1 exemption for 
existing facilities. Continued from the meeting of February 26, 2024. (Staff Report #24-013-P  

  
 Planner Hochleutner reported no changes to the published staff report. 
 
 Commissioner Riggs said the staff report needed the project address shown and suggested on the 

upper corner of the staff report. 
 
 Chair Do opened the public hearing and closed it as no persons requested to speak. 
 
 ACTION: Motion and second (Riggs/Ferrick) to adopt a resolution to approve the item as presented; 

passes 7-0. 
 
F2. Use Permit Revision/Fatima Saqib/113 Princeton Road: 

Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use permit revision to add new second-floor area on 
the south-east (right) side by enclosing the existing balcony on a two-story, single-family residence 
on a substandard lot with regard to lot width in the R-1-U (Single Family Urban Residential) zoning 
district. The applicant is also proposing a garage conversion to an accessory dwelling unit (ADU) on 
a separate permit, which is a permitted use; determine this action is categorically exempt under 
CEQA Guidelines Section 15301’s Class 1 exemption for existing facilities. Continued from the 
meeting of February 26, 2024. (Staff Report #24-014-PC) 

  
 Ms. Begin reported no changes to the published staff report. 
 

Michael Hochberg, property owner, and Fatima Saqib, project architect, spoke on behalf of the 
project.  

 
 Chair Do opened the public hearing and closed it as no persons requested to speak. 
 

ACTION: Motion and second (Ferrick/Silverstein) to adopt a resolution to approve the item as 
presented; passes 7-0. 

 
 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes  
March 11, 2024 
Page 3 
 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

G. Informational Items 
G1. Future Planning Commission Meeting Schedule. 
 

• Regular Meeting: March 25, 2024 
 
Mr. Perata said for the March 25th agenda that staff was tracking two single-family home use permits 
and two development agreement annual reviews for the 500 El Camino Real project and 1300 El 
Camino Real project. 
 
Mr. Perata said for the record that staff would likely bring to the Commission in the April/May 
timeframe multiple development agreement annual reviews for the Meta campuses in the Bayfront 
area. 
 
• Regular Meeting: April 15, 2024 

 
H. Adjournment 
  

Chair Do adjourned the meeting at 7:45 p.m. 
 
 
Staff Liaison: Kyle Perata, Assistant Community Development Director 
 
Recording Secretary: Brenda Bennett 



Community Development 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

 
 
STAFF REPORT 

Planning Commission    
Meeting Date:   3/25/2024 
Staff Report Number:  24-015-PC 
 
Public Hearing:  Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use 

permit to remodel and add first- and second-story 
additions to an existing nonconforming one-story, 
single-family residence on a lot that is substandard 
with regard to minimum lot width, depth and area in 
the R-1-U (Single Family Urban Residential) zoning 
district, at 108 Blackburn Avenue. The proposed 
work would exceed 50 percent of the replacement 
value of the existing nonconforming structure over 
a 12-month period and would also exceed 50 
percent of the existing floor area and therefore is 
considered equivalent to a new structure. 
Determine this action is categorically exempt under 
CEQA Guidelines Section 15301’s Class 1 
exemption for existing facilities.     

 
Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission adopt a resolution approving a use permit to remodel and 
add first- and second-story additions to an existing nonconforming single-story, single-family residence 
located on a substandard lot with regard to minimum lot width, depth and area in the R-1-U (Single Family 
Urban Residential) zoning district, at 108 Blackburn Avenue. The proposed work would exceed 50 percent 
of the replacement value of the existing nonconforming structure in a 12-month period, and would also 
exceed 50 percent of the existing floor area and therefore is considered equivalent to a new structure. The 
draft resolution, including the recommended actions and conditions of approval, is included as Attachment 
A. 

 
Policy Issues 
Each use permit request is considered individually. The Planning Commission should consider whether the 
required use permit findings can be made for the proposed single-family residence. 

 
Background 
Site location 
The subject site is located at 108 Blackburn Avenue, on the north side of the street between Willow Road to 
the west and McKendry Drive to the east, in the Willows neighborhood. A location map is included as 
Attachment B. The parcel is within the “AE” zone established by the Federal Emergency Management 
Agency (FEMA). 
 
The surrounding parcels are also R-1-U-zoned properties. South of the project site, where Willow Road 



Staff Report #: 24-015-PC 
Page 2 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

meets Middlefield Road, there are also parcels zoned C-1-A (Administrative and Professional), R-3 
(Apartment) and C-MU (Neighborhood Mixed-Use). The properties within the immediate vicinity are 
developed with single-story, single-family residences predominantly in a ranch style, although a mix of 
single- and two-story developments are visible throughout the neighborhood that feature a variety of 
architectural styles including traditional, cottage, craftsman and contemporary homes. 
 
Analysis 
Project description 
The subject property is currently occupied by a 1,396-square-foot, single-story, single-family residence, 
originally built around 1947. The property is a substandard lot with a width of 55 feet where 65 feet is 
required, a lot depth of 99 feet where 100 feet is required, and a lot area of 5,433 square feet where a 7,000 
is required. The applicant is proposing ground floor additions to the front and rear of the existing residence 
comprising approximately 486 square feet of living space, as well as remodeling and reconfiguring most of 
the single-story residence in order to build a new 961-square-foot second story.  
 
In the R-1-U zoning district, the minimum side setback is 10 percent of the minimum lot width with a 
minimum of five feet and maximum of 10 feet. In this case, the subject property has a lot width of 55 feet, so 
the minimum side setback is 5.5 feet. A nonconforming wall on the left side of the residence is located 5 feet 
from the side property line and is proposed to remain.  
 
The proposed additions and renovations would result in a four bedroom, three and a half-bathroom 
residence with an attached two-car garage. The proposed additions would meet all Zoning Ordinance 
requirements for setbacks, lot coverage, floor area limit (FAL), daylight plane, parking, and height, but the 
residence would remain nonconforming with regard to the left-side setback. Of particular note with regard to 
Zoning Ordinance requirements: 
• The total proposed FAL would be 2,640 square feet, including an attached two-car garage, below the 

maximum floor area limit of 2,800 square feet for the site. 
• The total proposed building coverage would be 1,742 square feet, or approximately 32 percent of the lot, 

where 1,905.1 square feet (35 percent) is permitted. 
• The renovated residence would have a front setback of 20 feet where a minimum of 20 feet is required. 
• The renovated residence would have a rear setback of 38.2 feet where a minimum of 20 feet is required. 
• The proposed additions on the first floor right-side would have minimum setbacks of 5.5 feet, where a 

minimum of 5.5 feet is required. 
• The second floor of the project would be 961 square feet where 1,400 square feet is permitted. 
• The proposed residence would have a total height of approximately 25.5 feet where 28 feet is permitted. 
• The proposed project would comply with the City’s off-street parking requirement through two covered 

spaces located within the proposed attached garage. 
• Two windows on the proposed left (east) elevation would have window sill height of two-feet, which 

would feature obscured glass on the lower half.  
 

A data table summarizing parcel and project attributes is included as Attachment C. The project plans and 
the applicant’s project description letter are included as Attachment A, Exhibits A and B respectively. 
 
Design and materials 
As described in the project description letter, the proposed project would feature a mix of modern and 
contemporary California architectural styles with an updated roof design. The primary exterior material 



Staff Report #: 24-015-PC 
Page 3 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

would be smooth finish stucco, with some wood cladding to add variation, and composition shingles for the 
roof. Windows are proposed to be aluminum-clad with wood trim, clear glass and no lites or dividers. The 
second floor would be stepped back from the first floor on all four sides, which would help reduce the 
perception of mass. Sill heights for the second story windows on the right-side elevation would be six feet. 
The left-side elevation would include three windows with sill heights at two feet. Two of these windows 
would feature obscure glass on the lower portion of the window and the third window would be located 
within the stairwell, which creates an effective sill height of seven feet, six inches from the mid-stairwell 
landing. The two additional windows would contain sill heights of six feet. Staff believes the proposed side 
setbacks for the second story and the proposed sill heights and use of obscured glass would alleviate 
potential privacy concerns,  
 
Trees and landscaping 
The applicant has submitted an arborist report (Attachment D), detailing the species, size, and conditions of 
on-site and nearby trees. A total of five trees were assessed, which include three heritage trees, of which 
two (tree # 1 and 4) are proposed for removal (see Table 1). The proposed heritage tree removal permits 
(HTR2023-00219 and HTR2024-00040) were reviewed and conditionally approved by the City Arborist. To 
mitigate the proposed heritage tree removals, the proposed project would incorporate a 24-inch box 
Chinese Pistache in the rear yard and one 24-inch box Texas red oak at the front of the property. The 
replacement tree plan was reviewed and conditionally approved by the City Arborist. No appeals were filed 
for either of the heritage removal permits.  
 

Table 1: Tree summary and disposition 

Tree number Species Size (DBH, in 
inches) Disposition Notes 

1* Valley Oak 6  Remove Non-Heritage 

2 California Peppertree 22 Retain Heritage 

3** Coast Redwood 48 Retain Heritage 

4 Willow 22 Remove Heritage 

5 Callery Pear 12 Retain Non-Heritage 
*denotes street trees  
**denotes tree shared with the neighbors 
 
 
To protect the heritage and non-heritage trees on site, the arborist report has identified such measures as 
tree protection fencing, hand excavation near tree trunks, pruning of roots if found to be necessary then no 
more than two inches. All recommended tree protection measures identified in the arborist report would be 
implemented and ensured as part of condition 1h. 
 
Flood zone 
The subject property is located within the “AE” zone established by FEMA. Within this zone, flood proofing 
techniques are required for new construction and substantial improvements of existing structures. Stated in 
general terms, the finished floor must be at least one foot above the base flood elevation. The Public Works 
Department has reviewed and tentatively approved the proposal for compliance with FEMA regulations. The 
elevations and sections (Plan Sheet A11- A14 in Attachment A Exhibit A) show the base flood elevation 
(52.70 feet) in relation to the existing average natural grade (approximately 52.0 feet) and the finished floor 



Staff Report #: 24-015-PC 
Page 4 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

elevation (53.73 feet).  
 
Valuation 
For projects involving existing nonconforming structures, the City uses standards established by the 
Building Division to calculate the replacement and new construction costs on which the use permit threshold 
is based. For context, the use permit threshold differs between 75 percent for a single-story structure and 
50 percent for a two-story structure. Since the applicant proposes to add a new second-story on an existing 
single-story structure, the 50 percent threshold applies. The City has determined that the value of the 
proposed work for the project would exceed 50 percent of the replacement cost of the existing structure, at 
approximately 193 percent, and therefore requires use permit approval by the Planning Commission. 
 
Correspondence 
As of the publication of this report, staff has not received any correspondence regarding the project. The 
applicant’s project description letter provides a community outreach summary. The applicant states in their 
project description letter that outreach was conducted to a total of seven neighbors, which involved showing 
them the proposed design.  
 
Conclusion 
Staff believes that the design, scale, and materials of the proposal are generally compatible with the 
surrounding neighborhood, and would add to the architectural variation of the neighborhood. The proposed 
improvements to the existing structure have been designed with a mix of modern and contemporary 
California architectural styles. The architectural style would be generally attractive and well-proportioned, 
and the additional second floor setbacks along all four sides, window sill heights, and selective use of 
obscured glass would help reduce the massing. Staff recommends that the Planning Commission approve 
the proposed project.  

 
Impact on City Resources 
The project sponsor is required to pay Planning, Building and Public Works permit fees, based on the City’s 
Master Fee Schedule, to fully cover the cost of staff time spent on the review of the project. 

 
Environmental Review 
The project is categorically exempt under Class 1 (Section 15301, “Existing Facilities”) of the current 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines. 

 
Public Notice 
Public notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. Public notification also consisted of publishing a notice in the local newspaper 
and notification by mail of owners and occupants within a 300-foot radius of the subject property. 
 

Appeal Period 
The Planning Commission action will be effective after 15 days unless the action is appealed to the City 
Council, in which case the outcome of the application shall be determined by the City Council. 
 

 



Staff Report #: 24-015-PC 
Page 5 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

Attachments 
A. Draft Planning Commission Resolution approving the use permit 

Exhibits to Attachment A 
A. Project Plans  
B. Project Description Letter  
C. Conditions of Approval 

B. Location Map 
C. Data Table 
D. Arborist Report 

 
 
Report prepared by: 
Fahteen Khan, Associate Planner 
 
Report reviewed by: 
Corinna, Sandmeier, Principal Planner 



Resolution No. 2024-XXX 

PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION NO. 2024-XXX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 
MENLO PARK APPROVING A USE PERMIT TO REMODEL AND 
ADD FIRST AND SECOND-STORY ADDITIONS TO AN EXISTING 
NONCONFORMING SINGLE-STORY, SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE 
ON A LOT THAT IS SUBSTANDARD WITH REGARD TO MINIMUM 
LOT WIDTH, DEPTH, AND AREA IN THE R-1-U (SINGLE FAMILY 
URBAN RESIDENTIAL) ZONING DISTRICT, AT 108 BLACKBURN 
AVENUE. THE PROPOSED WORK WOULD EXCEED 50 PERCENT 
OF THE REPLACEMENT VALUE OF THE EXISTING 
NONCONFORMING STRUCTURE OVER A 12-MONTH PERIOD. THE 
PROPOSED PROJECT WOULD ALSO EXCEED 50 PERCENT OF 
THE EXISTING FLOOR AREA AND THEREFORE IS CONSIDERED 
EQUIVALENT TO A NEW STRUCTURE. 

WHEREAS, the City of Menlo Park (“City”) received an application requesting a use permit to 
remodel and add first- and second-story additions to an existing nonconforming one-story, single-
family residence on a substandard lot with regard to minimum lot width, depth, and area in the R-
1-U (Single Family Urban Residential) zoning district, at 108 Blackburn Avenue. The proposed
work would exceed 50 percent of the replacement value of the existing nonconforming structure
in a 12-month period and would also exceed 50 percent of the existing floor area and therefore is
considered equivalent to a new structure (collectively, the “Project”) from Rucha Shah
(“Applicant”) on behalf of Vahid Talismitehrani (“Owner”) located at 108 Blackburn Avenue (APN
062-311-620) (“Property”). The Project use permit is depicted in and subject to the development
plans and project description letter, which are attached hereto as Exhibit A and Exhibit B,
respectively, and incorporated herein by this reference; and

WHEREAS, the Property is located in the Single Family Urban (R-1-U) district. The R-1-U district 
supports single-family residential uses; and 

WHEREAS, the existing residence is nonconforming with regard to the left side setback; and 

WHEREAS, the value of the proposed first- and second-story additions and remodeling work 
would exceed 50 percent of the existing value in a 12-month period; and 

WHEREAS, the additions would exceed 50 percent of the existing floor area and are therefore 
considered equivalent to a new structure; and  

WHEREAS, the proposed additions would comply with all objective standards of the R-1-U 
district; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed Project was reviewed by the Engineering Division and found to be in 
compliance with City standards; and 

A1



Resolution No. 2024-XXX 
 

WHEREAS, the Applicant applied for two heritage tree removal permits to remove one heritage 
sized tree located on the subject property and one street tree, which have been reviewed and 
conditionally approved with appropriate heritage tree replacements, by the City Arborist; and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant submitted an arborist report prepared by Heartwood Consulting 
Arborist, which was reviewed by the City Arborist and found to be in compliance with the Heritage 
Tree Ordinance, and proposes mitigation measures to adequately protect heritage trees in the 
vicinity of the project; and 

WHEREAS, the Project, requires discretionary actions by the City as summarized above, and 
therefore the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA,” Public Resources Code Section 
§21000 et seq.) and CEQA Guidelines (Cal. Code of Regulations, Title 14, §15000 et seq.) require 
analysis and a determination regarding the Project’s environmental impacts; and  

WHEREAS, the City is the lead agency, as defined by CEQA and the CEQA Guidelines, and is 
therefore responsible for the preparation, consideration, certification, and approval of 
environmental documents for the Project; and  

WHEREAS, the Project is categorically except from environmental review pursuant to Cal. Code 
of Regulations, Title 14, §15301 et seq. (Existing Facilities); and 

WHEREAS, all required public notices and public hearings were duly given and held according 
to law; and 

WHEREAS, at a duly and properly noticed public hearing held on March 25, 2024, the Planning 
Commission fully reviewed, considered, and evaluated the whole of the record including all 
public and written comments, pertinent information, documents and plans, prior to taking action 
regarding the Project. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE MENLO PARK PLANNING COMMISSION HEREBY RESOLVES AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1.  Recitals.  The Planning Commission has considered the full record before it, which 
may include but is not limited to such things as the staff report, public testimony, and other 
materials and evidence submitted or provided, and the Planning Commission finds the foregoing 
recitals are true and correct, and they are hereby incorporated by reference into this Resolution. 

Section 2.  Conditional Use Permit Findings.  The Planning Commission of the City of Menlo Park 
does hereby make the following Findings:   

The approval of the use permit for the renovation and expansion of a nonconforming single-story 
structure exceeding 50 percent of the replacement value of the existing structure over a 12-month 
period, and would also exceed 50 percent of the existing floor area and therefore is considered 
equivalent to a new structure, is granted based on the following findings, which are made pursuant 
to Menlo Park Municipal Code Section 16.82.030: 

A2



Resolution No. 2024-XXX 
 

1. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the use applied for will, under the 
circumstance of the particular case, not be detrimental to the health, safety, morals, 
comfort and general welfare of the persons residing in the neighborhood of such 
proposed use, or injurious or detrimental to property and improvements in the 
neighborhood or the general welfare of the city because: 

a. Consideration and due regard were given to the nature and condition of all 
adjacent uses and structures, and to general plans for the area in question and 
surrounding areas, and impact of the application hereon; in that, the proposed 
use permit is consistent with the R-1-U zoning district and the General Plan 
because nonconforming residences are allowed to be maintained, repaired, 
altered and expanded, provided that no increase in the nonconformity results 
and all other applicable regulations are met. The proposed project would not 
increase the nonconformity of the left side walls, all additions would comply with 
required setbacks, and the project conforms to applicable zoning standards, 
including, but not limited to, maximum floor area limit and maximum building 
coverage.  

 
b. The proposed residence would include the required number of off-street parking 

spaces because one covered and one uncovered parking space would be 
required at a minimum, and two covered parking spaces are provided in an 
attached garage.  

 
c. The proposed Project is designed to meet all the applicable codes and 

ordinances of the City of Menlo Park Municipal Code and the Commission 
concludes that the Project would not be detrimental to the health, safety, and 
welfare of the surrounding community as the renovated and expanded residence 
would be located in a single-family neighborhood and has been designed in a 
way to complement the existing scale of the surrounding homes.  
 

Section 3.  Conditional Use Permit.  The Planning Commission approves Use Permit No. 
PLN2023-00041, which use permit is depicted in and subject to the development plans and 
project description letter, which are attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference as 
Exhibit A and Exhibit B, respectively.  The Use Permit is conditioned in conformance with the 
conditions attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference as Exhibit C.   
 
Section 4.  ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW.  The Planning Commission makes the following findings, 
based on its independent judgment after considering the Project, and having reviewed and taken into 
consideration all written and oral information submitted in this matter: 

 
1. The Project is categorically exempt from environmental review pursuant to Cal. Code 
of Regulations, Title 14, §15301 et seq. (Existing Facilities) 
 

Section 5.  SEVERABILITY  

If any term, provision, or portion of these findings or the application of these findings to a particular 
situation is held by a court to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining provisions of these 

A3



Resolution No. 2024-XXX 
 

findings, or their application to other actions related to the Project, shall continue in full force and 
effect unless amended or modified by the City. 

I, Kyle Perata, Assistant Community Development Director of the City of Menlo Park, do hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing Planning Commission Resolution was duly and regularly 
passed and adopted at a meeting by said Planning Commission on March 25, 2024, by the 
following votes: 

AYES:   

NOES:  

ABSENT:   

ABSTAIN:  
 
 
IN WITNESS THEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Official Seal of said City 
on this ______ day of March, 2024 
 
PC Liaison Signature 
 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Kyle Perata 
Assistant Community Development Director  
City of Menlo Park 
 
 
Exhibits 
A. Project plans  
B. Project description letter  
C. Conditions of approval 
 

A4



A0

S
H

A
H

 D
E

S
IG

N
S

N
O

.
S

T
R

E
E

T
C

IT
Y

Z
IP

C
O

D
E

S
IN

G
LE

 F
A

M
IL

Y
 R

E
S

ID
E

N
C

E
S

H
A

H
 D

E
S

IG
N

S

PARCEL MAPVICINITY MAP

A.P.N. # 623-11-620

VAHID & HALEH SINGLE FAMILY  
NEW HOME

PROJECT SUMMERY APPLICABLE CODES

SCOPE OF WORK

RESIDENCE 

NOTES

DRAWING INDEX

EXISTING USE: SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENCE
PROPOSED USE: SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENCE

2022 CALIFORNIA BUILDING CODE
2022 CALIFORNIA RESIDENTIAL CODE
2022 CALIFORNIA ELECTRICAL CODE
2022 CALIFORNIA MECHANICAL CODE
2022 CALIFORNIA PLUMBING CODE
2022 CALIFORNIA FIRE CODE
2022 CALIFORNIA GREEN BUILDING STANDARDS CODE (CALGREEN)
2022 CALIFORNIA ENERGY CODE

TITLE SHEET
EXISTING & PROPOSED SITE PLAN
AREA PLAN
STREETSCAPE
SURVEY SHEET
EXISTING FLOOR PLAN
PROPOSED FLOOR PLAN
EXISTING & PROPOSED ROOF PLAN
EXISTING AREA CALCULATION
PROPOSED AREA CALCULATION
EXISTING ELEVATIONS
PROPOSED ELEVATIONS
PROPOSED SECTION
MATERIAL SHEET
3D - SHEETS
SOLAR ANALYSIS SHEETS
LANDSCAPE DETAILS AND NOTES

SHEET A0
SHEET A1
SHEET A2
SHEET A3
SHEET 1
SHEET A4
SHEET A5
SHEET A6
SHEET A7
SHEET A8
SHEET A10
SHEET A11 - A12
SHEET A13 - A14
SHEET A15
SHEET A19 - A21
SHEET A22 - A23
SHEET L1

108 BLACKBURN AVE

- ZONING : R1

- TYPE OF CONST : TYPE V-B

- A.P.N. #  623-11-620
- BUILDING OCCUPANCY  : R-1/U

- NET LOT AREA : 5445 SQ. FT

- EXISTING
3 BEDROOMS, 1 BATHROOM, LIVING, DINING, KITCHEN.

- PROPOSED: ADDITION
4 BEDROOMS, 3.5 BATHROOM, LAUNDRY, WIC, LIVING,

- 63 SF OF NEW PORCH.
- 47 SF OF PORCH REMODEL TO GARAGE.
- 57 SF OF LIVING REMODEL TO GARAGE.
- 337 SF NEW GARAGE ADDITION.
- 149 SF NEW FIRST FLOOR LIVING ADDITION.
- 961 SF NEW SECOND FLOOR LIVING ADDITION.
- WALKWAY AND CURB IMPROVEMENT.

LOCATION:  108 BLACKBURN AVE, MENLO PARK, CA 94025, USA

ZONING: R1

APPLICANT: VAHID & HALEH
PROPERTY OWNER: VAHID & HALEH

KITCHEN, DINING, FAMILY AREA. 108 BLACKBURN AVE

THE PROJECT WILL BE DESIGNED TO COMPLY WITH
THE CITY’S FLOOD DAMAGE PREVENTION ORDINANCE,
CHAPTER 12, SECTION 42

ANY FRONTAGE IMPROVEMENTS WHICH ARE
DAMAGED AS A RESULT OF CONSTRUCTION WILL BE
REQUIRED TO BE REPLACED. ALL FRONTAGE
IMPROVEMENT WORK SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE LATEST VERSION OF THE CITY STANDARD
DETAILS.

AN ENCROACHMENT PERMIT FROM THE ENGINEERING
DIVISION IS REQUIRED PRIOR TO ANY CONSTRUCTION
ACTIVITIES, INCLUDING UTILITY LATERALS, IN THE
PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY.

I HAVE COMPLIED WITH THE CRITERIA OF THE WATER
CONSERVATION IN LANDSCAPE ORDINANCE AND
HAVE APPLIED THEM FOR THE EFFICIENT USE OF
WATER IN THE LANDSCAPE AND IRRIGATION DESIGN
PLAN.”

“A 3” LAYER OF MULCH SHALL BE APPLIED TO ALL
EXPOSED PLANTING SURFACES WITH THE EXCEPTION
OF TURF.”

PROJECT DATA

LOT AREA 5445.00

FRONT SETBACK
REAR SETBACK
RIGHT SETBACK
LEFT SETBACK

20' - 0"
38' - 2"
4' - 11"

5' - 6"

47.00 SF

1146.00 SF
GARAGE
LIVING AREA         

PORCH
221.00 SF

EXISTING DEVELOPMENT

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT

GARAGE
LIVING AREA         

NEW FF LIVING ADD.
PORCH 63.00 SF

1089.00 SF
441.00 SF

149.00 SF
NEW SF LIVING ADD. 961.00 SF

TOTAL FLOOR AREA 1146.00 SF 21.0%
LOT COVERAGE 1414.00 SF 26.0%

2703.00 SF
1742.00 SF 32.0%

49.6%
TOTAL FLOOR AREA 
LOT COVERAGE

BLDG. HIEGHT 13' - 10"

BLDG. HIEGHT 25' - 7"

SFLANDSCAPING 3076.00 SF 56.5%
SFPAVING 955.00 SF 17.5%

LANDSCAPING
PAVING 473.00 SF

3230.00 SF 59.3%
8.7%

ZONE - AE
BASE FLOOD ELEVATION BFE - 52.7 NAVD88,
DESIGN FLOOD ELEVATION DFE - 53.7 NAVD88

EXHIBIT A

A5



N
EXISTING
SITE PLAN
3/16"=1'-0"
APN 213-17-032
0 4' 8' 16'

BLACKBURN AVE

55.00' P.L.

55.00' P.L.

99
.0

0'
 P

.L
.

99
.0

0'
 P

.L
.

EX. LIVING AREA
1146 SF

EX. PORCH AREA
47 SF

5'-0"
13'-11"

24
'-1

0"

5'-0"

34
'-2

"

20
'-0

"
SE

TB
AC

K

20
'-0

"

WALKWAY

W
AL

KW
AY

(E) DRIVEWAY
FRONT YARD

REAR YARD

(E) DRIVEWAY

(E) UTILITY
POLE

SETBACK LINE

SETBACK LINE

SETBACK
SETBACK

SETBACK

36'-1"

(E) GAS METER

(E) ELECTRIC METER

P.U.E LINE

5'
-0

"

38
'-2

"

SE
TB

AC
K

CONCRETE ROLLED CURB & GUTTER

2'-2"10'-11"
1'-10"

4'-0"36'-1"

(E) DRIVEWAY

12" TREE
TO BE REMOVE

15" TREE
TO BE REMOVE

(E) WATER
METER

12" NEIGHBOR'S TREE
TREE 5

22" TREE 2

48"
NEIGHBOR'S
TREE
TREE 3

22" TREE 4

5" CITY'S TREE
TREE 1

EX. GARAGE
221 SF

N
PROPOSED
SITE PLAN
3/16"=1'-0"
APN 213-17-032
0 4' 8' 16'

BLACKBURN AVE

55.00' P.L.

99
.0

0'
 P

.L
.

99
.0

0'
 P

.L
.

WALKWAY

(N
) W

AL
KW

AY

(N) DRIVEWAY

W
AL

KW
AY

W
AL

KW
AY

W
AL

KW
AY

WALKWAY

FRONT YARD

REAR YARD

EX. LIVING AREA
1089 SF

EX. PORCH TO BE REMODEL
TO GARAGE

47 SF

EX. LIVING TO BE
REMODEL TO GARAGE

57 SF

NEW GARAGE
337 SF

PORCH
63 SF

NEW LIVING
149 SF

UNCOVERED DECK

20
'-0

"

5'-6"

5'-0"

28
'-2

"

5'-6"

38
'-2

"

5'-0"

24
'-1

0"

NEW SECOND FLOOR
LIVING AREA

961 SF

20
'-0

"

20
'-0

"

(N) GAS METER

(E) WATER
METER

(E) UTILITY
POLE

SETBACK LINE

SETBACK LINE

SETBACK

SETBACK

SE
TB

AC
K

SETBACK

22" TREE 2

P.U.E LINE

5'
-0

"

CONCRETE ROLLED CURB & GUTTER

SE
TB

AC
K

6'-6"18'-6"7'-11"5'-0"17'-1"

11'-8"
SECOND FLOOR SETBACK

12'-2"

24
'-1

0"
SE

CO
ND

 F
LO

O
R 

SE
TB

AC
K

40
'-1

0"
SE

CO
ND

 F
LO

O
R 

SE
TB

AC
K

HVAC
EQUIPMENT
WILL NOT
EXCEED
50dBA AT
NIGHT, AND
60dBA
DURING THE
DAY.

PL
AN

T 
HE

DG
IN

G
PL

AN
T 

HE
DG

IN
G

4'-11"4.9' SETBACK
TILL STUCCO

5' SETBACK TILL
FOUNDATION

4' WOODEN
FENCE

6' WOODEN
FENCE

6' WOODEN
FENCE

ALL FENCING LOCATED WITHIN
THE FRONT YARD SETBACK IS
REQUIRED TO BE NO GRATER

THAN 48" IN HEIGHT.

21'-6"

(E) DRIVEWAY
TO FILL IN

48" TREE
NEIGHBOR'S
TREE
TREE 3

MULCH

12" NEIGHBOR'S TREE
TREE 5

MULCH

MULCH

MULCH MULCH

6' WOODEN
FENCE

EXISTING FENCE
TO REMAIN

EXISTING FENCE
TO REMAIN

EXISTING FENCE
TO REMAIN

EXISTING FENCE
TO REMAIN

LEGEND
SECOND FLOOR WALL 
ADDITION AREA
WALKWAY
SETBACK LINE
P.U.E LINE

NEW 24" BOX
REPLACEMENT

TREE (TEXAS RED
OAK)

6'
-0

"

NEW 24" BOX
REPLACEMENT
TREE (CHINESE

PISTACHE)

SECOND FLOOR SETBACK

Manual excavation and Arborist
supervision
a. Hand-excavate edge nearest trunk
to the full depth of the feature being
installed or to a depth of three feet,
whichever is shallower.

b. Retain as many roots as practical.
Route conduit and other features
around and between roots insofar as
practical.

c. If roots 1-2" in diameter must be
cut, sever them cleanly with a sharp
saw or bypass pruners.

d. If roots over 2" must be cut, stop
work in that area and contact the
project arborist for guidance.

Tree Protection Zone (TPZ)
- Minimum fencing distances are
shown.

- Tree protection fencing shall
comprise 6' chain link fabric mounted
on 1.5" diameter metal posts driven
into the ground.

- Place a 6" layer of fresh wood chips
throughout entire TPZ.

- Hand-excavation only inside TPZs.

12'-9"

19'-1"

15
'-7

"

(E) ELECTRIC METER
UPGRADE TO 200 AMP

DRAWN  :  AJ

CHECKED  :  RS

SCALE  :  3/16":12"

DATE  :  12-15-2023

A1

S
H

A
H

 D
E

S
IG

N
S

10
8

BL
AC

KB
UR

N
 A

VE
,

M
EN

LO
 P

AR
K,

 C
A

94
02

5

N
O

.
S

T
R

E
E

T
C

IT
Y

Z
IP

C
O

D
E

RE
SE

RV
ES

 IT
S'

 C
O

M
M

O
N 

LA
W

 C
O

PY
RI

GH
T

RI
GH

TS
 IN

 T
HE

SE
 P

LA
N

S.
 T

HE
SE

 P
LA

N
S 

AR
E

NO
T 

TO
 B

E 
RE

PR
O

DU
CE

D,
 C

HA
NG

ED
 O

R
CO

PI
ED

,N
O

R 
AR

E 
TH

EY
 T

O
 B

E 
AS

SI
GN

ED
TO

 A
 T

HI
RD

 P
AR

TY
 W

IT
HO

UT
 T

HE
 W

RI
TT

EN
PE

RM
IS

SI
O

N
 C

O
N

SE
N

T 
O

F 
TH

E 
DE

SI
GN

ER
.

RU
CH

A 
SH

AH
12

63
1 

SH
ER

EE
 C

T,
SA

N
 JO

SE
, C

A 
95

12
7

PH
O

N
E 

40
8-

83
8-

74
64

sh
ah

de
sig

ns
20

15
@

gm
ai

l.c
om

S
IN

G
LE

 F
A

M
IL

Y
 R

E
S

ID
E

N
C

E
S

H
A

H
 D

E
S

IG
N

S

ISSUED / REVISED

SITE ANALYSIS
ZONING - R1

LOT AREA:
PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR AREA:
PROPOSED SECOND FLOOR AREA:
TOTAL PROPOSED FLOOR AREA:

LAND COVER BY STRUCTURE:
LANDSCAPING:
PAVED SURFACE:
PARKING SPACE:

ALL GRADES REMAIN TO NATURAL

5445 SF
1742 SF
961 SF
2703 SF

1742 SF (32.0%)

2898 SF (53.2%)

805 SF (14.8%)

2 COV/1 UNCOV

REV 1 - 12-15-2023

REV 2 - 02-13-2024

A6



N
AREA PLAN
1/8"=1'-0"
0 4' 8' 16'

BLACKBURN AVE

55.00' P.L.

99
.0

0'
 P

.L
.

99
.0

0'
 P

.L
.

WALKWAY

W
AL

KW
AY

DRIVEWAY

W
AL

KW
AY

W
AL

KW
AY

W
AL

KW
AY

FRONT YARD

REAR YARD

EX. LIVING AREA
1089 SF

EX. PORCH TO BE REMODEL
TO GARAGE

47 SF

EX. LIVING TO BE
REMODEL TO GARAGE

57 SF

NEW GARAGE
337 SF

NEW PORCH
63 SF

NEW LIVING
149 SF

UNCOVERED DECK

20
'-0

"

5'-6"

5'-0"

5'-6"

38
'-2

"
5'-0"

24
'-1

0"

NEW SECOND FLOOR
LIVING AREA

961 SF

20
'-0

"

20
'-0

"

(E) UTILITY
POLE

SETBACK LINE

SETBACK LINE

SETBACK

SETBACK

SE
TB

AC
K

SE
TB

AC
K

SETBACK

P.U.E LINE

5'
-0

"

EXISTING HOUSE EXISTING HOUSE

EXISTING BUILDINGEXISTING BUILDING

EXISTING GARAGE

EXISTING GARAGE

19'-11" 10'-4"

23
'-4

"

15'-3"
46'-8"

43'-1"

24
'-1

0"

24
'-9

"

24'-10"

35'-6"

104

108

112

166 167W
IL

LO
W

 R
D

M
CK

EN
DR

Y 
DR

W
IL

LO
W

 R
D

M
CK

EN
DR

Y 
DR

UTILITY
PEDESTAL

UTILITY
VAULT

CENTERLINE

33'-5" 18'-6" 6'-6"

11'-8"

11
'-1

1"

WALKWAY

(E) WATER
METER

DRIVEWAY

DRIVEWAY

WALKWAY

WALKWAY

WALKWAY

WALKWAY

22" TREE 2

48" TREE
NEIGHBOR'S
TREE
TREE 3

12" NEIGHBOR'S TREE
TREE 5

NEW 24" BOX
REPLACEMENT

TREE

NEW 24" BOX
REPLACEMENT

TREE

(N) GAS METER

(E) ELECTRIC METER
UPGRADE TO 200 AMP

DRAWN  :  AJ

CHECKED  :  RS

SCALE  :  1/8":12"

DATE  :  12-15-2023

A2

S
H

A
H

 D
E

S
IG

N
S

10
8

BL
AC

KB
UR

N
 A

VE
,

M
EN

LO
 P

AR
K,

 C
A

94
02

5

N
O

.
S

T
R

E
E

T
C

IT
Y

Z
IP

C
O

D
E

RE
SE

RV
ES

 IT
S'

 C
O

M
M

O
N 

LA
W

 C
O

PY
RI

GH
T

RI
GH

TS
 IN

 T
HE

SE
 P

LA
N

S.
 T

HE
SE

 P
LA

N
S 

AR
E

NO
T 

TO
 B

E 
RE

PR
O

DU
CE

D,
 C

HA
NG

ED
 O

R
CO

PI
ED

,N
O

R 
AR

E 
TH

EY
 T

O
 B

E 
AS

SI
GN

ED
TO

 A
 T

HI
RD

 P
AR

TY
 W

IT
HO

UT
 T

HE
 W

RI
TT

EN
PE

RM
IS

SI
O

N
 C

O
N

SE
N

T 
O

F 
TH

E 
DE

SI
GN

ER
.

RU
CH

A 
SH

AH
12

63
1 

SH
ER

EE
 C

T,
SA

N
 JO

SE
, C

A 
95

12
7

PH
O

N
E 

40
8-

83
8-

74
64

sh
ah

de
sig

ns
20

15
@

gm
ai

l.c
om

S
IN

G
LE

 F
A

M
IL

Y
 R

E
S

ID
E

N
C

E
S

H
A

H
 D

E
S

IG
N

S

ISSUED / REVISED

REV 1 - 12-15-2023

IMPERVIOUS AREA SUMMARY
TOTAL AREA OF PARCEL
EXISTING PERVIOUS AREA
EXISTING IMPERVIOUS AREA

EXISTING % IMPERVIOUS (C ÷ A x 100)

EXISTING IMPERVIOUS AREA TO BE REPLACED WITH NEW IMPERVIOUS AREA
EXISTING PERVIOUS AREA TO BE REPLACED WITH NEW IMPERVIOUS AREA

NEW IMPERVIOUS AREA (CREATING AND/OR REPLACING) (E + F)

EXISTING IMPERVIOUS AREA TO BE REPLACED WITH NEW PERVIOUS AREA

NET CHANGE IN IMPERVIOUS AREA (F - H)

PROPOSED PERVIOUS AREA (B - I)

PROPOSED IMPERVIOUS AREA (C + I)

PROPOSED % IMPERVIOUS AREA (K ÷ A x 100)

5445 SF
3076 SF
2369 SF
43.51%
771 SF
580 SF
1350 SF
402 SF

178 SF
2898 SF
2547 SF
46.78%

A =
B =
C =
D =
E =
F =
G =
H =

I =
J =
K =
L =

REV 2 - 02-13-2024

A7



A8



A9



A10



PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR PLAN
1/4" = 1'0"

RANGE

SINK DW

REF

B

A

B

A

C

C

BEDROOM 1

CLOSET

BATH 1

LIVING ROOM

DI
N

IN
G

FAMILY AREA

ISLAND

KITCHEN

GARAGE

ENTRY

PORCH

UPUP

FI
RE

PL
AC

E

BAR SHELF

UNDER STAIR PANTRY

W02 (N) 2070
FIX GLASS
WINDOW

W02 (N) 2070
FIX GLASS
WINDOW

W02 (N) 2070
FIX GLASS
WINDOW

D01 (N) 4080
ENTRY DOOR

D06 (N) 12080
BI-FOLD DOOR

W
08

 (N
) 5

04
0

SL
ID

ER
 W

IN
DO

W

D0
3 

(N
)

28
80

DO
O

R

W
07

 (N
) 1

00
20

 F
IX

GL
AS

S 
W

IN
DO

W

W06 (N) 3046
AWNING
WINDOW

D05 (N) 8080
SLIDING DOOR

(E
) 3

06
0

SI
N

GL
E 

HU
N

G
W

IN
DO

W
W

04
 (N

) 4
02

0
SL

ID
ER

 W
IN

DO
W

W
03

 (N
) 3

06
0

AW
N

IN
G

W
IN

DO
W

W
03

 (N
) 3

06
0

AW
N

IN
G

W
IN

DO
W

D0
3 

(N
)

28
80

DO
O

R

D02 (N)
2680

DOOR

(N) 2880
DOOR

POWDER
ROOM

D02 (N)
2680

DOOR

CO
AT

 S
HE

LF

SH
O

W
ER

W05 (N) 5046
FIX GLASS
WINDOW

W06 (N) 3046
AWNING
WINDOW

UNCOVERED DECK

PL
AN

TE
R 

BO
X

PL
AN

TE
R 

BO
X

 (N) 16080
GARAGE DOOR

44'-6"

11'-4" 12'-6" 20'-0"

23'-10" 20'-8"

5'
-0

" 11'-3" 5'-0"

6'
-5

"

2'
-9

"
2'

-0
"

4'-0"

16
'-6

"
5'

-0
"

1'
-9

"
11

'-1
"

36
'-0

"

41
'-0

"

20
'-0

"
3'

-1
0"

15
'-1

0"
16

'-6
"

20
'-8

"

41
'-0

"

11'-2"
14'-4" 18'-0"

44'-6"

5'
-0

"

11'-6"

10
'-0

"

12'-0"

3'
-3

"

7'-0" 13'-0"

6'-4"

5'-0"

4'
-0

"

4'
-2

"

8'-0"

3'
-0

"
16'-0"

11
'-3

"

18'-2"

11'-2"

5'
-0

"

5'
-0

"

33'-0"

HVAC UNIT, EQUIPMENT WILL NOT EXCEED
50dBA AT NIGHT, AND 60dBA DURING THE
DAY AT THE NEAREST RESIDENTIAL
PROPERTY LINE.

PL
AN

TE
R

PLANTER

(N) GAS METER

(E) ELECTRIC METER
UPGRADE TO 200 AMP

PROPOSED SECOND FLOOR PLAN
1/4" = 1'0"

W
AS

H
DR

Y

15
'-0

"
5'

-0
"

12
'-0

"

10'-8" 11'-10"

31'-2"

7'-4"
6'-0" 3'-6"

2'-0" 5'-0"

5'
-1

0"

3'
-0

"

DOWNDOWN

BEDROOM 2BEDROOM 3

MASTER BEDROOM 4

WALK IN
CLOSET

MASTER
BATH 3

WC

SHOWER

BATH 2 CLOSET

CL
O

SE
T

LA
UN

DR
Y

HALLWAY

W09 (N) 8060 XOX
SLIDER WINDOW

W09 (N) 8060 XOX
SLIDER WINDOW

W10 (N) 3060
AWNING
WINDOW

W
13

 (N
) 2

06
0

AW
N

IN
G

W
IN

DO
W

W
13

 (N
) 2

06
0

AW
N

IN
G

W
IN

DO
W

W
12

 (N
) 4

06
0 

FI
X

W
IN

DO
W

W
04

 (N
) 4

02
0

SL
ID

ER
 W

IN
DO

W
W

04
 (N

) 4
02

0
SL

ID
ER

 W
IN

DO
W

W12 (N) 4060
FIX WINDOW

W12 (N) 4060
FIX WINDOW

W09 (N) 8060 XOX
SLIDER WINDOW

W
11

 (N
) 8

02
0

FI
X 

W
IN

DO
W

W
11

 (N
) 8

02
0

FI
X 

W
IN

DO
W

W
04

 (N
) 4

02
0

SL
ID

ER
 W

IN
DO

W

D0
3 

(N
)

28
80

DO
O

R

D0
3 

(N
)

28
80

DO
O

R

D02 (N)
2680

DOOR

D0
2 

(N
)

26
80

DO
O

R

D0
3 

(N
)

28
80

DO
O

R

D0
8 

(N
)

24
80

DO
O

R D09 (N) 2480
POCKET
DOOR

CLOSET

CLOSET

TUB

W
15

 (N
)

10
'0

" 
X 

0'
8"

TR
AN

SO
M

E
FI

X 
GL

AS
S

D10 (N) 3080
DOUBLE HINGE

DOOR

C

C

B

A

B

A

33
'-4

"

13'-0" 7'-0" 9'-10"

5'
-0

"
5'

-2
"

6'
-6

"
2'

-0
"

12
'-8

"

33
'-4

"

31'-2"

5'-9" 5'-9"

13
'-8

"

5'-0"

6'
-1

0"

8'
-2

"

13'-0"

DRAWN  :  AJ

CHECKED  :  RS

SCALE  :  1/4":12"

DATE  :  12-15-2023

A5

S
H

A
H

 D
E

S
IG

N
S

10
8

BL
AC

KB
UR

N
 A

VE
,

M
EN

LO
 P

AR
K,

 C
A

94
02

5

N
O

.
S

T
R

E
E

T
C

IT
Y

Z
IP

C
O

D
E

RE
SE

RV
ES

 IT
S'

 C
O

M
M

O
N 

LA
W

 C
O

PY
RI

GH
T

RI
GH

TS
 IN

 T
HE

SE
 P

LA
N

S.
 T

HE
SE

 P
LA

N
S 

AR
E

NO
T 

TO
 B

E 
RE

PR
O

DU
CE

D,
 C

HA
NG

ED
 O

R
CO

PI
ED

,N
O

R 
AR

E 
TH

EY
 T

O
 B

E 
AS

SI
GN

ED
TO

 A
 T

HI
RD

 P
AR

TY
 W

IT
HO

UT
 T

HE
 W

RI
TT

EN
PE

RM
IS

SI
O

N
 C

O
N

SE
N

T 
O

F 
TH

E 
DE

SI
GN

ER
.

RU
CH

A 
SH

AH
12

63
1 

SH
ER

EE
 C

T,
SA

N
 JO

SE
, C

A 
95

12
7

PH
O

N
E 

40
8-

83
8-

74
64

sh
ah

de
sig

ns
20

15
@

gm
ai

l.c
om

S
IN

G
LE

 F
A

M
IL

Y
 R

E
S

ID
E

N
C

E
S

H
A

H
 D

E
S

IG
N

S

ISSUED / REVISED

COMMENTS

D O O R  S C H E D U L E
MATERIAL SIZE

D01

SYM THICKNESS

ALL DOORS ARE TO BE PRE-HUNG @
DRILLED TO ACCEPT DOOR HARDWARE.

ALL INTERIOR DOORS TO BE CONTINENTAL
2 PANEL, SOLID PARTICLEBOARD CORE, 
BY DOOR CRAFT (TYP. U.N.O.)

ALL THRESHOLDS ARE TO BE BRONZE
ANODIZED ALUMINUM

ALL CASING TO BE 3-1/4"
#1212-S BY WHITE BROTHERS

4'-0"x8'-0"
2'-6"x8'-0" 1-3/8"

WOOD

Q.
1
4

1-3/8"
WOODD02

ENTRY GLASED DOOR

12'-0"x8'-0"1 ALUMINIUMD06 1-3/8" BI-FOLD DOOR
8'-0"x8'-0"1 ALUMINIUMD05 1-3/8" SLIDING DOOR
2'-8"x8'-0"6 WOOD D03 1-3/8" SINGLE HINGE DOOR

COMMENTS

W I N D O W  S C H E D U L E
MATERIAL SIZE

W01

SYM THICKNESS
1'-0"x8'-0"

Q.
1 FIBER GLASS 1-1/8" FIX GLASS

W02 2'-0"x7'-0"3 1-1/8"

W04 4'-0"x2'-0"4 1-1/8"
W05 5'0"x4'-6"1 1-1/8"

10'-0"x2'-0"1 1-1/8" FIX GLASS WINDOWW07
5'-0"x4'-0"1 1-1/8"W08
8'-0"x6'-0"3 1-1/8" XOX SLIDER WINDOWW09
3'-0"x6'-0"1 1-1/8" AWNING WINDOWW10

1
WOOD 

D08
1-3/8" POCKET DOOR

W11 8'-0"x2'-0"2 1-1/8"
W12 4'-0"x6'-0"3 1-1/8"

2'-4"x8'-0" WOOD 1-3/8"
1D09

DOUBLE HINGE DOOR
2'-4"x8'-0" WOOD 1-3/8"

1D10 3'-0"x8'-0" WOOD 1-3/8"

FIBER GLASS

FIBER GLASS
FIBER GLASS

FIBER GLASS
FIBER GLASS
FIBER GLASS
FIBER GLASS
FIBER GLASS
FIBER GLASS

3'-0"x4'-6"2 1-1/8"W06 FIBER GLASS

2'-0"x6'-0"2 1-1/8"W13 FIBER GLASS

SINGLE HINGE DOOR

SINGLE HINGE DOOR

W03 3'-0"x6'-0"2 1-1/8"FIBER GLASS
FIX GLASS
AWNING WINDOW

FIX GLASS WINDOW
SLIDER WINDOW

AWNING WINDOW

SLIDER WINDOW

FIX GLASS WINDOW
FIX GLASS WINDOW
AWNING - OBSCURE

WALL LEGEND
EXISTING WALL 
NEW WALL 

10'-0"x0'-8"1 1-1/8" TRANSOME FIX GLASSW14 FIBER GLASS

REV 1 - 12-15-2023

A11



A12



A13



A14



FINISH FLOOR

± 0' 0"

+ 1'-3"

8' PLATE HEIGHT + 9'-3"

1'
-4

"
8'

-0
"

4'
-5

"
12

'-5
"

13
'-1

0"

12'-5" TOP RIDGE HEIGHT + 13'-10"

EXISTING RIGHT ELEVATION
EAST ELEVATION
1/4" = 1'0"

+ 61.7'

+ 66.1'

+ 51.87'+ 52.01'

+ 53.23'

12"
4"

12"
4"

AVERAGE NATURAL GRADE
± 52.0'

FINISH FLOOR

± 0' 0"

+ 1'-4"

8' PLATE HEIGHT + 9'-4"

1'
-4

"
8'

-0
"

4'
-5

"
12

'-5
"

13
'-1

0"

12'-5" TOP RIDGE HEIGHT + 13'-10"

EXISTING REAR ELEVATION
NORTH ELEVATION
1/4" = 1'0"

+ 61.7'

+ 66.1'

+ 51.95'
+ 53.23'

12"
4"

12"
4"

AVERAGE NATURAL GRADE
± 52.0'

FINISH FLOOR

± 0' 0"

+ 1'-2"

8' PLATE HEIGHT + 9'-2"

1'
-4

"
8'

-0
"

4'
-5

"
12

'-5
"

13
'-1

0"

12'-5" TOP RIDGE HEIGHT + 13'-10"

EXISTING RIGHT ELEVATION
WEST ELEVATION
1/4" = 1'0"

+ 61.7'

+ 66.1'

+ 53.23'

+ 51.88' AVERAGE NATURAL GRADE
± 52.0'

AVERAGE NATURAL GRADE

FINISH FLOOR

± 0' 0"

+ 1'-4"

8' PLATE HEIGHT + 9'-4"

8'
-0

"
4'

-5
"

12
'-5

"
13

'-1
0"

12'-5" TOP RIDGE HEIGHT + 13'-10"

EXISTING FRONT ELEVATION
SOUTH ELEVATION
1/4" = 1'0"

+ 53.23'

+ 61.7'

+ 66.1'

1'
-4

"

+ 52.05'

12"
4"

12"
4"

± 52.0'

DRAWN  :  AJ

CHECKED  :  RS

SCALE  :  1/4":12"

DATE  :  12-15-2023

A10

S
H

A
H

 D
E

S
IG

N
S

10
8

BL
AC

KB
UR

N
 A

VE
,

M
EN

LO
 P

AR
K,

 C
A

94
02

5

N
O

.
S

T
R

E
E

T
C

IT
Y

Z
IP

C
O

D
E

RE
SE

RV
ES

 IT
S'

 C
O

M
M

O
N 

LA
W

 C
O

PY
RI

GH
T

RI
GH

TS
 IN

 T
HE

SE
 P

LA
N

S.
 T

HE
SE

 P
LA

N
S 

AR
E

NO
T 

TO
 B

E 
RE

PR
O

DU
CE

D,
 C

HA
NG

ED
 O

R
CO

PI
ED

,N
O

R 
AR

E 
TH

EY
 T

O
 B

E 
AS

SI
GN

ED
TO

 A
 T

HI
RD

 P
AR

TY
 W

IT
HO

UT
 T

HE
 W

RI
TT

EN
PE

RM
IS

SI
O

N
 C

O
N

SE
N

T 
O

F 
TH

E 
DE

SI
GN

ER
.

RU
CH

A 
SH

AH
12

63
1 

SH
ER

EE
 C

T,
SA

N
 JO

SE
, C

A 
95

12
7

PH
O

N
E 

40
8-

83
8-

74
64

sh
ah

de
sig

ns
20

15
@

gm
ai

l.c
om

S
IN

G
LE

 F
A

M
IL

Y
 R

E
S

ID
E

N
C

E
S

H
A

H
 D

E
S

IG
N

S

ISSUED / REVISED

A15



12"
2"

12"
2"

PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION
(SOUTH ELEVATION)
1/4" = 1'0"

AVERAGE NATURAL GRADE

FINISH FIRST FLOOR

± 0' 0"

+ 1'-10"

10' FIRST PLATE HEIGHT + 11'-10"

1'
-1

0"
9'

-0
"

25
'-6

"

VENT ATTIC
1/150       MIN. REQ.

STUCCO WEEPSCREED
4" MIN. TO GRADE
2" MIN. TO CONCRETE

23'-8" TOP RIDGE HEIGHT + 25'-6"

COMP. SHINGLE ROOF
O/30Lb FELT

+ 12'-10"FINISH SECOND FLOOR

9' SECOND PLATE HEIGHT + 24'-10"

1'
-0

"
3'

-8
"

10
'-0

"
11

'-1
0"

23
'-8

"

8'-6" SECOND PLATE HEIGHT + 21'-4"

7/8" MIN. STUCCO WITH WIRE
LATH OVER 2 LAYER GRADE 'D' PAPER

W/D.S. TYP.
6" FASCIA GUTTER

12' GARAGE PLATE HEIGHT

12" 1"12"1"

+ 53.73'

± 52.0'
+ 52.05'1'

-8
"

PR
O

PE
RT

Y 
LI

N
E

PR
O

PE
RT

Y 
LI

N
E

45°

DAYLIG
HT PLA

NE

45
°

DAYLIGHT PLANE

1'
-0

"

1'
-0

"

1'
-0

"

2'
-0

"

2'
-0

"

2'
-0

"

5'-6"
SETBACK

5'-6"
SETBACK

SE
TB

AC
K 

LI
N

E

SE
TB

AC
K 

LI
N

E

WALNUT NATURAL WOOD
FINISH GARAGE DOOR

BLACK METAL
ELEVATION
COVERING

WALNUT NATURAL
WOOD FINISH
ENTRY DOOR

11
'-8

"FIX GLASS
WINDOW

FIX GLASS
WINDOW

XOX SLIDER
WINDOW

AWNING
WINDOW

XOX SLIDER
WINDOW

WHITE STUCCO WALLS

WHITE STUCCO WALLS

1'-6"

1'-0"
1'-6"

FIX GLASS
WINDOW

PROPOSED RIGHT ELEVATION
(WEST ELEVATION)
1/4" = 1'0"

VENT ATTIC
1/150       MIN. REQ.

STUCCO WEEPSCREED
4" MIN. TO GRADE
2" MIN. TO CONCRETE

COMP. SHINGLE ROOF
O/30Lb FELT

7/8" MIN. STUCCO WITH WIRE
LATH OVER 2 LAYER GRADE 'D' PAPER

W/D.S. TYP.
6" FASCIA GUTTER

UNCOVERED DECK PORCH

FINISH FIRST FLOOR

± 0' 0"

+ 1'-8"

10' FIRST PLATE HEIGHT + 11'-8"

1'
-8

"
9'

-0
"

25
'-4

"

23'-8" TOP RIDGE HEIGHT + 25'-4"

+ 12'-8"FINISH SECOND FLOOR

9' SECOND PLATE HEIGHT + 21'-8"

1'
-0

"
3'

-8
"

10
'-0

"
11

'-8
"

23
'-8

"

12' GARAGE PLATE HEIGHT

12" 1"12"1"

+ 51.88'

+ 53.73'1'
-1

0"

PR
O

PE
RT

Y 
LI

N
E

PR
O

PE
RT

Y 
LI

N
E

2'
-0

"

6'
-0

"

2'
-0

"

2'
-0

"

6'
-0

"

6'
-0

"

6'
-0

"

20'-0"
SETBACK

SETBACK
20'-0"

SE
TB

AC
K 

LI
N

E

SE
TB

AC
K 

LI
N

E

WHITE STUCCO WALLS

BLACK METAL
ELEVATION
COVERING

SINGLE HUNG
WINDOW

SLIDER WINDOWFIX GLASS
WINDOW

FIX GLASS
WINDOW

AWNING
WINDOW

AWNING
WINDOW

SLIDER WINDOW

± 52.0'
AVERAGE NATURAL GRADE

WHITE STUCCO WALLS

DRAWN  :  AJ

CHECKED  :  RS

SCALE  :  1/4":12"

DATE  :  12-15-2023

A11

S
H

A
H

 D
E

S
IG

N
S

10
8

BL
AC

KB
UR

N
 A

VE
,

M
EN

LO
 P

AR
K,

 C
A

94
02

5

N
O

.
S

T
R

E
E

T
C

IT
Y

Z
IP

C
O

D
E

RE
SE

RV
ES

 IT
S'

 C
O

M
M

O
N 

LA
W

 C
O

PY
RI

GH
T

RI
GH

TS
 IN

 T
HE

SE
 P

LA
N

S.
 T

HE
SE

 P
LA

N
S 

AR
E

NO
T 

TO
 B

E 
RE

PR
O

DU
CE

D,
 C

HA
NG

ED
 O

R
CO

PI
ED

,N
O

R 
AR

E 
TH

EY
 T

O
 B

E 
AS

SI
GN

ED
TO

 A
 T

HI
RD

 P
AR

TY
 W

IT
HO

UT
 T

HE
 W

RI
TT

EN
PE

RM
IS

SI
O

N
 C

O
N

SE
N

T 
O

F 
TH

E 
DE

SI
GN

ER
.

RU
CH

A 
SH

AH
12

63
1 

SH
ER

EE
 C

T,
SA

N
 JO

SE
, C

A 
95

12
7

PH
O

N
E 

40
8-

83
8-

74
64

sh
ah

de
sig

ns
20

15
@

gm
ai

l.c
om

S
IN

G
LE

 F
A

M
IL

Y
 R

E
S

ID
E

N
C

E
S

H
A

H
 D

E
S

IG
N

S

ISSUED / REVISED

REV 1 - 12-15-2023

A16



VENT ATTIC
1/150       MIN. REQ.

STUCCO WEEPSCREED
4" MIN. TO GRADE
2" MIN. TO CONCRETE

COMP. SHINGLE ROOF
O/30Lb FELT

PROPOSED LEFT ELEVATION
(EAST ELEVATION)
1/4" = 1'0"

7/8" MIN. STUCCO WITH WIRE
LATH OVER 2 LAYER GRADE 'D' PAPER

W/D.S. TYP.
6" FASCIA GUTTER

UNCOVERED DECK

FINISH FIRST FLOOR

± 0' 0"

+ 1'-11"

10' FIRST PLATE HEIGHT + 11'-11"

1'
-1

1"
8'

-6
"

25
'-7

"

23'-8" TOP RIDGE HEIGHT + 25'-8"

+ 12'-11"FINISH SECOND FLOOR 1'
-0

"
4'

-2
"

10
'-0

"
11

'-1
1"

23
'-8

"

8'-6" SECOND PLATE HEIGHT + 21'-5"

12' GARAGE PLATE HEIGHT

3'
-0

" 5'
-0

"2'
-0

"

12"1" 12" 1"

+ 51.59'

+ 53.73'

2'
-2

"

PR
O

PE
RT

Y 
LI

N
E

PR
O

PE
RT

Y 
LI

N
E

4'
-0

" 3'
-0

"

2'
-0

"

2'
-0

"

2'
-0

"

6'
-0

"

6'
-0

"

20'-0"
SETBACK

SETBACK
20'-0"

SE
TB

AC
K 

LI
N

E

SE
TB

AC
K 

LI
N

E

WHITE STUCCO WALLS

BLACK METAL
ELEVATION
COVERING

8'
-1

"

7'
-6

"

STAIRCASE
LANDING LINE

AWNING
WINDOW

AWNING
WINDOW

FIX GLASS
WINDOW

FIX GLASS
WINDOW

SLIDER
WINDOW

SLIDER
WINDOW

SLIDER
WINDOW

TRANSOME FIX GLASS WINDOW

± 52.0'
AVERAGE NATURAL GRADE

WHITE STUCCO WALLS

10
'-0

"

PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION
(NORTH ELEVATION)
1/4" = 1'0"

VENT ATTIC
1/150       MIN. REQ.

STUCCO WEEPSCREED
4" MIN. TO GRADE
2" MIN. TO CONCRETE

7/8" MIN. STUCCO WITH WIRE
LATH OVER 2 LAYER GRADE 'D' PAPER

COMP. SHINGLE ROOF
O/30Lb FELT

W/D.S. TYP.
6" FASCIA GUTTER

FINISH FIRST FLOOR

± 0' 0"

+ 1'-10"

10' FIRST PLATE HEIGHT + 11'-10"

1'
-1

0"
9'

-0
"

25
'-6

"

23'-8" TOP RIDGE HEIGHT + 25'-6"

+ 12'-10"FINISH SECOND FLOOR

9' SECOND PLATE HEIGHT + 21'-10"

1'
-0

"
3'

-8
"

10
'-0

"
11

'-1
0"

23
'-8

"

8'-6" SECOND PLATE HEIGHT + 21'-4"

12' GARAGE PLATE HEIGHT

3'
-6

"
4'

-6
"

8'
-0

"

12"1" 12" 1"

12"
2"12"

2"

+ 51.82'

+ 53.73'1'
-1

1"

PR
O

PE
RT

Y 
LI

N
E

PR
O

PE
RT

Y 
LI

N
E

45°

DAYLIG
HT PLA

NE

45
°

DAYLIGHT PLANE

2'
-0

"

2'
-0

"

2'
-0

"

5'-6"
SETBACK

5'-6"
SETBACK

SE
TB

AC
K 

LI
N

E

SE
TB

AC
K 

LI
N

E

EERIE BLACK METAL
ELEVATION
COVERING

AWNING
WINDOW

AWNING
WINDOW

AWNING
WINDOW

AWNING
WINDOW

AWNING
WINDOW

XOX SLIDER
WINDOW

BI-FOLD
DOOR

± 52.0'
AVERAGE NATURAL GRADE

WHITE STUCCO WALLS

WHITE STUCCO WALLS

1'-6"

1'-0"

1'-6"

SLIDER DOOR

DRAWN  :  AJ

CHECKED  :  RS

SCALE  :  1/4":12"

DATE  :  12-15-2023

A12

S
H

A
H

 D
E

S
IG

N
S

10
8

BL
AC

KB
UR

N
 A

VE
,

M
EN

LO
 P

AR
K,

 C
A

94
02

5

N
O

.
S

T
R

E
E

T
C

IT
Y

Z
IP

C
O

D
E

RE
SE

RV
ES

 IT
S'

 C
O

M
M

O
N 

LA
W

 C
O

PY
RI

GH
T

RI
GH

TS
 IN

 T
HE

SE
 P

LA
N

S.
 T

HE
SE

 P
LA

N
S 

AR
E

NO
T 

TO
 B

E 
RE

PR
O

DU
CE

D,
 C

HA
NG

ED
 O

R
CO

PI
ED

,N
O

R 
AR

E 
TH

EY
 T

O
 B

E 
AS

SI
GN

ED
TO

 A
 T

HI
RD

 P
AR

TY
 W

IT
HO

UT
 T

HE
 W

RI
TT

EN
PE

RM
IS

SI
O

N
 C

O
N

SE
N

T 
O

F 
TH

E 
DE

SI
GN

ER
.

RU
CH

A 
SH

AH
12

63
1 

SH
ER

EE
 C

T,
SA

N
 JO

SE
, C

A 
95

12
7

PH
O

N
E 

40
8-

83
8-

74
64

sh
ah

de
sig

ns
20

15
@

gm
ai

l.c
om

S
IN

G
LE

 F
A

M
IL

Y
 R

E
S

ID
E

N
C

E
S

H
A

H
 D

E
S

IG
N

S

ISSUED / REVISED

REV 1 - 12-15-2023

A17



(N) FOOTING
AS PER

STRUCTURAL
DRAWINGS

18" MIN
CLEAR REQ.
6" MIN

(N) FOOTING
AS PER

STRUCTURAL
DRAWINGS

18" MIN
CLEAR REQ.
6" MIN

(N) FOOTING
AS PER

STRUCTURAL
DRAWINGS

18" MIN
CLEAR REQ.
6" MIN

(E) BEDROOM 1 (N) FAMILY AREA

(N) SUB FLOOR PER PLAN
(N) FLOOR FRAMING PER PLAN

(N) R-19 INSULATION

(N) 1/2" GYP. BD. WALLS
(N) R-30 ROOF INSULATION
(N) R-15 INSULATION
(N) 2 X 4 AT 16" O.C.

(N) 1/2" GYP. BD. WALLS
(N) R-30 ROOF INSULATION
(N) R-15 INSULATION
(N) 2 X 4 AT 16" O.C.

(N) SUB FLOOR PER PLAN
(N) FLOOR FRAMING PER PLAN

(N) R-19 INSULATION

(N) KITCHEN

(N) MASTER BEDROOM 4

(N) 1/2" GYP. BD. WALLS
(N) R-30 ROOF INSULATION
(N) R-15 INSULATION
(N) 2 X 4 AT 16" O.C.

(N) SUB FLOOR PER PLAN
(N) FLOOR FRAMING PER PLAN

(N) R-19 INSULATION

(N) WALK
IN CLOSET

(N) 1/2" GYP. BD. WALLS
(N) R-30 ROOF INSULATION
(N) R-15 INSULATION
(N) 2 X 4 AT 16" O.C.

(N) SUB FLOOR PER PLAN
(N) FLOOR FRAMING PER PLAN

(N) R-19 INSULATION

(N) MASTER BATH

PROPOSED SECTION B
1/4" = 1'0"

NATURAL GRADE LINE

FINISH FIRST FLOOR

± 0' 0"

+ 2'-0"

10' FIRST PLATE HEIGHT + 12'-0"

2'
-0

"
9'

-0
"

25
'-8

"

23'-8" TOP RIDGE HEIGHT + 25'-8"

+ 13'-0"FINISH SECOND FLOOR

9' SECOND PLATE HEIGHT + 22'-0"

1'
-0

"
3'

-8
"

10
'-0

"
12

'-0
"

23
'-8

"

8'-6" SECOND PLATE HEIGHT + 21'-0"

12' GARAGE PLATE HEIGHT

12" 1"12"1"

12"
2"

12"
2"

12
'-0

"

(N) FOOTING
AS PER

STRUCTURAL
DRAWINGS

18" MIN
CLEAR REQ.
6" MIN

(N) FOOTING
AS PER

STRUCTURAL
DRAWINGS

18" MIN
CLEAR REQ.
6" MIN

(N) BEDROOM 3

(N) 1/2" GYP. BD. WALLS
(N) R-30 ROOF INSULATION
(N) R-15 INSULATION
(N) 2 X 4 AT 16" O.C.

(N) SUB FLOOR PER PLAN
(N) FLOOR FRAMING PER PLAN

(N) R-19 INSULATION

(N
) 

H
A

LL
W

A
Y

(N) 1/2" GYP. BD. WALLS
(N) R-30 ROOF INSULATION
(N) R-15 INSULATION
(N) 2 X 4 AT 16" O.C.

(N) SUB FLOOR PER PLAN
(N) FLOOR FRAMING PER PLAN

(N) R-19 INSULATION

(N) LIVING AREA

(N) SUB FLOOR PER PLAN
(N) FLOOR FRAMING PER PLAN

(N) R-19 INSULATION

(N) 1/2" GYP. BD. WALLS
(N) R-30 ROOF INSULATION
(N) R-15 INSULATION
(N) 2 X 4 AT 16" O.C.

(N) 1/2" GYP. BD. WALLS
(N) R-30 ROOF INSULATION
(N) R-15 INSULATION
(N) 2 X 4 AT 16" O.C.

(N) SUB FLOOR PER PLAN
(N) FLOOR FRAMING PER PLAN

(N) R-19 INSULATION (N) GARAGE
(N) RCC - CONCRETE FLOORING

(N) 1/2" GYP. BD. WALLS
(N) R-30 ROOF INSULATION
(N) R-15 INSULATION
(N) 2 X 4 AT 16" O.C.

PROPOSED SECTION A
1/4" = 1'0"

NATURAL GRADE LINE

FINISH FIRST FLOOR

± 0' 0"

+ 2'-0"

10' FIRST PLATE HEIGHT + 12'-0"

2'
-0

"
9'

-0
"

25
'-8

"

23'-8" TOP RIDGE HEIGHT + 25'-8"

+ 13'-0"FINISH SECOND FLOOR

9' SECOND PLATE HEIGHT + 22'-0"

1'
-0

"
3'

-8
"

10
'-0

"
12

'-0
"

23
'-8

"

8'-6" SECOND PLATE HEIGHT + 21'-0"

12' GARAGE PLATE HEIGHT

(N) BEDROOM 2

12" 1"12"1"

12"
2"

12"
2"

11
'-8

"

12
'-0

"

DRAWN  :  AJ

CHECKED  :  RS

SCALE  :  1/4":12"

DATE  :  12-15-2023

A13

S
H

A
H

 D
E

S
IG

N
S

10
8

BL
AC

KB
UR

N
 A

VE
,

M
EN

LO
 P

AR
K,

 C
A

94
02

5

N
O

.
S

T
R

E
E

T
C

IT
Y

Z
IP

C
O

D
E

RE
SE

RV
ES

 IT
S'

 C
O

M
M

O
N 

LA
W

 C
O

PY
RI

GH
T

RI
GH

TS
 IN

 T
HE

SE
 P

LA
N

S.
 T

HE
SE

 P
LA

N
S 

AR
E

NO
T 

TO
 B

E 
RE

PR
O

DU
CE

D,
 C

HA
NG

ED
 O

R
CO

PI
ED

,N
O

R 
AR

E 
TH

EY
 T

O
 B

E 
AS

SI
GN

ED
TO

 A
 T

HI
RD

 P
AR

TY
 W

IT
HO

UT
 T

HE
 W

RI
TT

EN
PE

RM
IS

SI
O

N
 C

O
N

SE
N

T 
O

F 
TH

E 
DE

SI
GN

ER
.

RU
CH

A 
SH

AH
12

63
1 

SH
ER

EE
 C

T,
SA

N
 JO

SE
, C

A 
95

12
7

PH
O

N
E 

40
8-

83
8-

74
64

sh
ah

de
sig

ns
20

15
@

gm
ai

l.c
om

S
IN

G
LE

 F
A

M
IL

Y
 R

E
S

ID
E

N
C

E
S

H
A

H
 D

E
S

IG
N

S

ISSUED / REVISED

REV 1 - 12-15-2023

A18



(N) FOOTING
AS PER

STRUCTURAL
DRAWINGS

18" MIN
CLEAR REQ.
6" MIN

(N) FOOTING
AS PER

STRUCTURAL
DRAWINGS

18" MIN
CLEAR REQ.
6" MIN

(N) FOOTING
AS PER

STRUCTURAL
DRAWINGS

18" MIN
CLEAR REQ.
6" MIN

(N) LIVING AREA

(N) SUB FLOOR PER PLAN
(N) FLOOR FRAMING PER PLAN

(N) R-19 INSULATION

(N) 1/2" GYP. BD. WALLS
(N) R-30 ROOF INSULATION

(N) 1/2" GYP. BD. WALLS
(N) R-30 ROOF INSULATION

(N) SUB FLOOR PER PLAN
(N) FLOOR FRAMING PER PLAN

(N) R-19 INSULATION

(N) FAMILY AREA(N) DINING

(N) BEDROOM 3

(N) 1/2" GYP. BD. WALLS
(N) R-30 ROOF INSULATION
(N) R-15 INSULATION
(N) 2 X 4 AT 16" O.C.

(N) SUB FLOOR PER PLAN
(N) FLOOR FRAMING PER PLAN

(N) R-19 INSULATION (N
) 

B
A

T
H

R
O

O
M

 2

(N) 1/2" GYP. BD. WALLS
(N) R-30 ROOF INSULATION
(N) R-15 INSULATION
(N) 2 X 4 AT 16" O.C.

(N) SUB FLOOR PER PLAN
(N) FLOOR FRAMING PER PLAN

(N) R-19 INSULATION

(N) MASTER BEDROOM

PROPOSED SECTION C
1/4" = 1'0"

PORCH DECK

NATURAL GRADE LINE

FINISH FIRST FLOOR

± 0' 0"

10' FIRST PLATE HEIGHT

1'
-1

1"
9'

-0
"

25
'-7

"

23'-8" TOP RIDGE HEIGHT

FINISH SECOND FLOOR 1'
-0

"
3'

-8
"

10
'-0

"
11

'-1
1"

23
'-8

"

12' GARAGE PLATE HEIGHT

9' SECOND PLATE HEIGHT

12" 1"12"1"

+ 52.0'
+ 52.0'

+ 1'-11"

+ 11'-11"

+ 25'-7"

+ 12'-11"

+ 21'-11"

11
'-1

1"

11
'-1

1"
1'

-1
1"

BASE FLOOD ELEVATION LEVEL+ 52.7'

DFE - 53.7 NAVD88
BFE - 52.7 NAVD88

DFE - 53.7 NAVD88
BFE - 52.7 NAVD88

DRAWN  :  AJ

CHECKED  :  RS

SCALE  :  1/4":12"

DATE  :  12-15-2023

A14

S
H

A
H

 D
E

S
IG

N
S

10
8

BL
AC

KB
UR

N
 A

VE
,

M
EN

LO
 P

AR
K,

 C
A

94
02

5

N
O

.
S

T
R

E
E

T
C

IT
Y

Z
IP

C
O

D
E

RE
SE

RV
ES

 IT
S'

 C
O

M
M

O
N 

LA
W

 C
O

PY
RI

GH
T

RI
GH

TS
 IN

 T
HE

SE
 P

LA
N

S.
 T

HE
SE

 P
LA

N
S 

AR
E

NO
T 

TO
 B

E 
RE

PR
O

DU
CE

D,
 C

HA
NG

ED
 O

R
CO

PI
ED

,N
O

R 
AR

E 
TH

EY
 T

O
 B

E 
AS

SI
GN

ED
TO

 A
 T

HI
RD

 P
AR

TY
 W

IT
HO

UT
 T

HE
 W

RI
TT

EN
PE

RM
IS

SI
O

N
 C

O
N

SE
N

T 
O

F 
TH

E 
DE

SI
GN

ER
.

RU
CH

A 
SH

AH
12

63
1 

SH
ER

EE
 C

T,
SA

N
 JO

SE
, C

A 
95

12
7

PH
O

N
E 

40
8-

83
8-

74
64

sh
ah

de
sig

ns
20

15
@

gm
ai

l.c
om

S
IN

G
LE

 F
A

M
IL

Y
 R

E
S

ID
E

N
C

E
S

H
A

H
 D

E
S

IG
N

S

ISSUED / REVISED

REV 2 - 02-13-2024

A19



A20



A21



A22



A23



A24



A25



A26



 Project Description Letter: 

 Project Address: 108 BLACKBURN AVE, MENLO PARK, CA 94025 

 The purpose of this letter is to describe the proposed addition and remodel project at 108 
 Blackburn Ave. The existing living area is 1089 SF and the addition of 149 SF makes the 1st 
 floor  1238 SF  and the new 2nd floor  961 SF  with a  new Garage  441 SF  and  63 SF  of porch 
 making a total of  2703 SF 49.6% 
 There is a non-conforming right side existing wall with a setback of 4’-11” mentioned on the 
 survey as 4.9’. We would like to keep these nonconformities untouched. 

 The existing home is a traditional one-story “Ranch-Style”, as is typical of most of the original 
 homes in the neighborhood and in Menlo Park. The proposed house design is based on 
 modern and contemporary California architecture. Long, wide-opening windows and a dormer 
 window maximize natural light. The huge windows on the south side of the house bring in 
 plenty of light, which brightens and warms the interior areas. 

 The overall elegance and simplicity of the house's design contribute to its overall appeal. The 
 ceiling and walls have clear lines and geometric shapes that contrast with the warmth and 
 richness of the oak doors and natural white accents. This results in an eye-catching contrast 
 that is both welcoming and refined. The skillion roof is an important design element that adds 
 to the overall attractiveness and utility of the house. Both the floor's exterior walls will be 

EXHIBIT B

A27



 smooth finish stucco and wooden cladding in between for a modern touch and balance. 
 We are proposing a composite shingles roof. All new windows will be aluminum-clad with wood 
 trim, predominantly casements. Trim, casing, and moldings will be painted. 

 The second-floor addition is stacked on top of the portion of the first floor and sits within the 
 daylight plane. The surrounding neighborhood is all single-family dwellings. Most residences 
 have a front-facing main structure and garages at the back with a long driveway connecting to 
 the street for additional off-street parking. 

 Neighborhood outreach is done. The contact information of the applicant and homeowner along 
 with the site plan, floor plan, and design details were shared with the neighbors. The letter was 
 sent out on 22nd Nov. Till date none of the neighbors showed any objection or disagreement to 
 the proposal. 
 Here is the list of addresses: 

 ○  104 Blackburn ave. 
 ○  101 Blackburn ave. 
 ○  109 Blackburn ave. 
 ○  104 Blackburn ave. 
 ○  112 Blackburn ave. 
 ○  166 Willow Rd. 
 ○  167 McKendry drive. 

 Thank you for your time in review of this project.  We are proud to present this design for your 
 consideration and look forward to the opportunity to see this new design complement the 
 neighborhood. If you have any questions or need further clarification, please contact me directly 
 at the below contact information. 

 Sincerely, 
 Rucha Shah 
 Shah Designs 
 408-838-7464 
 shahdesigns2015@gmail.com 

A28



108 Blackburn Avenue – ATT A Ex. C – Conditions of Approval 

PAGE: 1 of 2 

LOCATION: 108 
Blackburn Avenue 

PROJECT NUMBER: 
PLN2023-00041 

APPLICANT: Rucha 
Shah 

OWNER: Vahid 
Taslimitehrani 

PROJECT CONDITIONS: 

1. The use permit shall be subject to the following standard conditions:

a. The applicant shall be required to apply for a building permit within one year from the
date of approval (by March 25, 2025) for the use permit to remain in effect.

b. Development of the project shall be substantially in conformance with the plans
prepared by Architect: Rucha Shah consisting of 23 plan sheets, dated received March
1, 2024 and approved by the Planning Commission on March 25, 2024, except as
modified by the conditions contained herein, subject to review and approval of the
Planning Division.

c. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicants shall comply with all Sanitary District,
Menlo Park Fire Protection District, and utility companies’ regulations that are directly
applicable to the project.

d. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicants shall comply with all requirements of
the Building Division, Engineering Division, and Transportation Division that are directly
applicable to the project.

e. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall submit a plan for any new utility
installations or upgrades for review and approval by the Planning, Engineering and
Building Divisions. All utility equipment that is installed outside of a building and that
cannot be placed underground shall be properly screened by landscaping. The plan
shall show exact locations of all meters, back flow prevention devices, transformers,
junction boxes, relay boxes, and other equipment boxes.

f. Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the applicant
shall submit plans indicating that the applicant shall remove and replace any damaged
and significantly worn sections of frontage improvements. The plans shall be submitted
for review and approval of the Engineering Division.

g. Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the applicant
shall submit a Grading and Drainage Plan for review and approval of the Engineering
Division. The Grading and Drainage Plan shall be approved prior to the issuance of
grading, demolition or building permits.

h. Heritage trees in the vicinity of the construction project shall be protected pursuant to
the Heritage Tree Ordinance and the arborist report prepared by Heartwood Consulting
Arborists, dated received February 15, 2024.

i. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall pay all fees incurred through staff
time spent reviewing the application.

j. The applicant or permittee shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the City of Menlo
Park or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action, or proceeding against
the City of Menlo Park or its agents, officers, or employees to attack, set aside, void, or
annul an approval of the Planning Commission, City Council, Community Development
Director, or any other department, committee, or agency of the City concerning a
development, variance, permit, or land use approval which action is brought within the
time period provided for in any applicable statute; provided, however, that the applicant’s
or permittee’s duty to so defend, indemnify, and hold harmless shall be subject to the
City’s promptly notifying the applicant or permittee of any said claim, action, or
proceeding and the City’s full cooperation in the applicant’s or permittee’s defense of said
claims, actions, or proceedings.

EXHIBIT C

A29



108 Blackburn Avenue – ATT A Ex. C – Conditions of Approval 

PAGE: 2 of 2 

LOCATION: 108 
Blackburn Avenue 

PROJECT NUMBER: 
PLN2023-00041 

APPLICANT: Rucha 
Shah 

OWNER: Vahid 
Taslimitehrani 

PROJECT CONDITIONS: 

k. Notice of Fees Protest – The applicant may protest any fees, dedications, reservations, 
or other exactions imposed by the City as part of the approval or as a condition of 
approval of this development. Per California Government Code 66020, this 90-day 
protest period has begun as of the date of the approval of this application. 

 

 
 

A30



City of Menlo Park

108 Blackburn Avenue
Location Map

Date: 3/25/2024 Drawn By:4,000 FNK Checked By: CDS1: Sheet: 1Scale:

ATTACHMENT B

B1



108 Blackburn Avenue – Attachment C: Data Table 

PROPOSED 
PROJECT 

EXISTING 
PROJECT 

ZONING 
ORDINANCE 

Lot area 5,443.0 sf 5,443.0 sf 7,000 sf min. 
Lot width 55.0 ft. 55.0  ft. 65 ft. min. 
Lot depth 99.0 ft. 99.0  ft. 100 ft. min. 
Setbacks 

Front 20.0 ft. 24.8 ft. 20 ft. min. 

Rear 38.2 ft. 38.2 ft. 20 ft. min. 

Side (left) 5.0 ft. 5.0 ft. 5.5 ft. min. 

Side (right) 5.5 ft. 13.5 ft. 5.5 ft. min. 

Building coverage 1,742.0 
32.0 

sf 
% 

1,443.0 
26.5 

sf 
% 

1,905.1 
35.0 

sf max. 
% max. 

FAL (Floor Area Limit) 2,640 sf 1,396.0 sf 2,800.0 sf max. 
Square footage by floor 1,238.0 

961.0 
441.0 
63.0 

sf/1st 
sf/2nd 
sf/garage 
sf/porches 

1,143.0 

250.0 
38.0 
12.0 

sf/1st 

sf/garage 
sf/porches 
sf/chimney 

Square footage of 
buildings 

2,703.0 sf 1,443.0 sf 

Building height 25.5 ft. 12.8 ft. 28 ft. max. 
Parking 2 covered 1 covered 1 covered/1 uncovered 

Note: Areas shown highlighted indicate a nonconforming or substandard situation. 

Trees Heritage trees* 3 Non-Heritage 
trees** 

2 New Trees 2 

Heritage trees proposed 
for removal 

1 Non-Heritage trees 
proposed for 
removal 

1 Total Number of 
Trees 

5 

* Three heritage trees on or around the subject property
** Of the two non-heritage trees one is a street tree

ATTACHMENT C

C1



ATTACHMENT D

D1



108 Blackburn Avenue (V. Tsalimi)  Last Revised 2/8/24 
2 of 19 

HHeartwood Consulting Arborists    650.542.8733    matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 
D2



108 Blackburn Avenue (V. Tsalimi)  Last Revised 2/8/24 
3 of 19 

HHeartwood Consulting Arborists    650.542.8733    matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 

•

•
•
•

o
o

•
•

D3



108 Blackburn Avenue (V. Tsalimi)  Last Revised 2/8/24 
4 of 19 

HHeartwood Consulting Arborists    650.542.8733    matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 
D4



108 Blackburn Avenue (V. Tsalimi)  Last Revised 2/8/24 
5 of 19 

HHeartwood Consulting Arborists    650.542.8733    matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 
D5



108 Blackburn Avenue (V. Tsalimi)  Last Revised 2/8/24 
6 of 19 

HHeartwood Consulting Arborists    650.542.8733    matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 

•

•

•

D6



108 Blackburn Avenue (V. Tsalimi)  Last Revised 2/8/24 
7 of 19 

HHeartwood Consulting Arborists    650.542.8733    matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 

•
•

D7



108 Blackburn Avenue (V. Tsalimi)  Last Revised 2/8/24 
8 of 19 

HHeartwood Consulting Arborists    650.542.8733    matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 
D8



108 Blackburn Avenue (V. Tsalimi)  Last Revised 2/8/24 
9 of 19 

HHeartwood Consulting Arborists    650.542.8733    matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 
D9



108 Blackburn Avenue (V. Tsalimi)  Last Revised 2/8/24 
10 of 19 

HHeartwood Consulting Arborists    650.542.8733    matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 
D10



108 Blackburn Avenue (V. Tsalimi)  Last Revised 2/8/24 
11 of 19 

HHeartwood Consulting Arborists    650.542.8733    matthew@heartwoodarborists.com D11



108 Blackburn Avenue (V. Tsalimi)  Last Revised 2/8/24 
12 of 19 

HHeartwood Consulting Arborists    650.542.8733    matthew@heartwoodarborists.com D12



108 Blackburn Avenue (V. Tsalimi)  Last Revised 2/8/24 
13 of 19 

HHeartwood Consulting Arborists    650.542.8733    matthew@heartwoodarborists.com D13



108 Blackburn Avenue (V. Tsalimi)  Last Revised 2/8/24 
14 of 19 

HHeartwood Consulting Arborists    650.542.8733    matthew@heartwoodarborists.com D14



108 Blackburn Avenue (V. Tsalimi) Last Revised 2/8/24
15 of 19

HHeartwoodd Consultingg Arborists    650.542.8733    matthew@heartwoodarborists.comD15



108 Blackburn Avenue (V. Tsalimi)  Last Revised 2/8/24 
16 of 19 

HHeartwood Consulting Arborists    650.542.8733    matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 

© 2014

D16



108 Blackburn Avenue (V. Tsalimi)  Last Revised 2/8/24 
17 of 19 

HHeartwood Consulting Arborists    650.542.8733    matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 

•
•

D17



108 Blackburn Avenue (V. Tsalimi)  Last Revised 2/8/24 
18 of 19 

HHeartwood Consulting Arborists    650.542.8733    matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 
D18



108 Blackburn Avenue (V. Tsalimi)  Last Revised 2/8/24 
19 of 19 

HHeartwood Consulting Arborists    650.542.8733    matthew@heartwoodarborists.com 

•

•

•

•

•

•

Matthew Fried 

D19



Community Development 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

 
 
STAFF REPORT 

Planning Commission    
Meeting Date:   3/25/2024 
Staff Report Number:  24-016-PC 
 
Public Hearing:  Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use 

permit to partially demolish, remodel, and add first- 
and second-story additions to an existing 
nonconforming single-story, single-family 
residence in the R-1-U (Single Family Urban 
Residential) zoning district, at 919 Arnold Way. The 
proposed work would exceed 50 percent of the 
replacement value of the existing nonconforming 
structure in a 12-month period. The applicant is also 
requesting to maintain a wall six feet in height 
within the front setback at approximately 14.8 feet 
from the property line. Determine this action is 
categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines 
Section 15301’s Class 1 exemption for existing 
facilities. The proposal includes the addition of an 
Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU), which is a 
permitted use and not subject to discretionary 
review.    

 
Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission adopt a resolution approving a use permit to partially 
demolish, remodel, and add first- and second-story additions to an existing nonconforming single-story, 
single-family residence, at 919 Arnold Way. The proposed work would exceed 50 percent of the 
replacement value of the nonconforming structure within a 12-month period. The applicant is also 
requesting to maintain a wall six feet in height within the required front setback at approximately 14.8 feet 
from the property line. The draft resolution, including the recommended actions and conditions of approval, 
is included as Attachment A. 

 
Policy Issues 
Each use permit request is considered individually. The Planning Commission should consider whether the 
required use permit findings can be made for the proposed additions and existing wall, which exceeds the 
four-foot height limit within a required front yard setback. 

 
Background 
Site location 
Using Arnold Way in the north-south orientation, the project site is located on the west side of Arnold Way, 
near the corner of Arnold Way and Grayson Court in the Willows neighborhood. All properties immediately 
adjacent to the subject property are also located in the R-1-U zoning district, however there are properties in 



Staff Report #: 24-016-PC 
Page 2 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

the R-3 (Apartment) and C-MU (Commercial Mixed Use) zoning districts in the surrounding neighborhood. 
This neighborhood features primarily older, one-story bungalow homes, with newer two-story residences 
with varying styles scattered throughout. A location map is included as attachment B. 

 
Analysis 
Project description 
The subject property is currently occupied by a 2,112-square-foot, single-story, single-family residence with 
three bedrooms, two and one-half bathrooms, and an attached single-car garage originally built in 
approximately 1947. The applicant is proposing to convert the existing primary bedroom, bathroom, and a 
secondary bedroom to an Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU), construct a 76-square-foot addition to the left, 
rear side of the first story, and construct a 1,051-square-foot second-story, which would include three 
additional bedrooms and two bathrooms.  
 
The legally nonconforming parking configuration consisting of one covered off-street parking space and no 
additional conforming uncovered space would remain unchanged. The site does include a second 
uncovered off-street parking pad, accessed through a second curb cut on the left side of the property, but 
this space does not count towards the required off-street parking since it’s located within the front setback. 
 
In 2005, a permit was filed to construct a wall system four feet in height within the required front setback. 
While that permit had a final inspection and was closed, the as-built wall both extends into the right-of-way 
and has a section that is six feet in height, which exceeds the four-foot height limit within the required front 
setback. The six-foot tall portion of the wall is set back approximately 14.8 feet from the front property line. 
Neither an encroachment permit for the right-of-way encroachment nor a use permit for the six-foot tall wall 
within the front setback could be located. The applicant is requesting to maintain the portion of the wall 
which is six feet in height as part of the current use permit request. A thorough review of the existing wall 
was conducted in coordination with the Transportation Division which concluded that the existing six-foot tall 
wall did not pose a sightline hazard. A project-specific condition has been added that the applicant shall 
remove the portions of the wall that extend into the public right-of-way prior to the final building permit 
inspection subject to review and approval of the Planning and Engineering Divisions and is depicted as 
condition 2a.  
 
In the R-1-U zoning district, the minimum side setback is 10 percent of the minimum lot width, with a 
minimum of five feet and maximum of 10 feet. In this case, the subject property has a lot width of 49.9 feet, 
so the minimum side setback is five feet. A nonconforming wall on the right side of the garage is located 3.8 
feet from the side property line and the wall along left side of the dining room is located approximately 2.4 
feet from the side property line. These non-conforming walls are proposed to remain.  
 
The applicant is proposing to maintain a portion of the existing nonconforming wall, eave, and roof structure 
at the front right side of the garage where it encroaches into the required side setback, which is shown on 
sheets S3.1, S4.1, and S5.1 included in Attachment A, Exhibit A. Through consultation with the Building 
Division and review of the proposed specific structural plans devised to retain the nonconforming elements 
during the construction process, the applicant has been advised that the nonconforming elements proposed 
to remain shall not be removed past the framing members.  
 
The proposed additions and renovations would result in a four bedroom, three and one-half bathroom 
residence with an attached ADU with one bedroom and bathroom. The proposed additions would meet all 
Zoning Ordinance requirements for setbacks, lot coverage, floor area limit (FAL), daylight plane, and height, 
but the residence would remain nonconforming with regard to the left and right side setbacks. Of particular 



Staff Report #: 24-016-PC 
Page 3 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

note with regard to Zoning Ordinance requirements: 
• The total proposed FAL would be 3,254 square feet, including an attached ADU, attached one-car 

garage, and areas of the attic five feet or greater in height, which exceeds the maximum floor area limit 
of 2,800 square feet for the site. 

• The total proposed building coverage would be 2,545 square feet, or approximately 39 percent of the lot, 
where 2,257 square feet (35 percent) is permitted. 
• An exception for 649 square feet of FAL and building coverage is permitted in order to convert 

existing floor area into an ADU. 
• The renovated residence would have a front setback of 25 feet where a minimum of 20 feet is required. 
• The proposed additions would have minimum setbacks of five feet from both side property lines where a 

minimum of five feet is required. 
• The renovated residence would have a rear setback of 27.3 feet where a minimum of 20 feet is required. 
• The renovated residence would have a total height of approximately 24 feet where 28 feet is permitted. 
• The legal nonconforming parking configuration, consisting of a single code-compliant covered off-street 

parking space, is proposed to remain.  
 
The lot is substandard with regard to lot width and area, however, the renovated residence, not including 
the area of the ADU, constitutes less than 150 percent of the FAL of the existing residence, meaning the 
proposal does not trigger the need for a use permit to allow a new two-story residence on a substandard lot. 
 
A data table summarizing parcel and project attributes is included as Attachment C. The project plans and 
the applicant’s project description letter are included as Attachment A, Exhibits A and B respectively. 
 

Design and materials 
As described in the project description letter, the proposed project’s architectural style would be a blend of 
Craftsman and California Ranch. Stucco material and colors would be matched to the existing. The James 
Hardie cement siding on the second floor addition would simulate the existing siding on the first floor and 
would be finished to match the existing siding. The existing composition brown shingle roofing would be 
replaced with new brown composition shingles and the same roofing material would be used on the second 
floor addition.  
 
The proposal would comply with the daylight plane, with one intrusion which may be permitted on lots less 
than 10,000 square feet in size. The right side gable would intrude into the daylight plane 3.7 feet, where 10 
feet is the maximum permitted intrusion when the required side yard setback is five feet. The length of the 
gable intrusion into the daylight plane would be 15.6 feet where 30 feet is the maximum permitted. 
 
Trees and landscaping 
The City Arborist reviewed the proposed plans, inspected the site, and determined that an arborist report 
was not required for this project. The table below summarizes the trees on the site. 
 
  



Staff Report #: 24-016-PC 
Page 4 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

Table 1: Tree summary and disposition 

Tree number Species Size (DBH, in 
inches) Disposition Notes 

1 Oak 22 Retain Heritage 

2 Birch 8 Retain Non-heritage 

3 Birch 8 Retain Non-heritage 

4* Birch 8 Retain Non-heritage 

5 Eucalyptus 18 Retain Heritage 

6 Eucalyptus 10 Remove Non-heritage 
*Street tree 
 
All standard Menlo Park heritage tree protection measures would be implemented and ensured as part of 
condition 1h. 
 
Valuation 
For projects involving existing nonconforming structures, the City uses standards established by the 
Building Division to calculate the replacement and new construction costs on which the use permit threshold 
is based. For context, the use permit threshold differs between 75 percent for a single-story structure and 
50 percent for a two-story structure. Since the residence would become two-story, the 50 percent threshold 
applies. The City has determined that the value of the proposed work for the project would exceed 50 
percent of the replacement value of the existing structure, at approximately 79 percent, and therefore 
requires use permit approval by the Planning Commission. 
 
Correspondence 
The applicant has stated in their project description letter that they shared their project plans with neighbors. 
Staff has not received any correspondence on the proposed project. 
 
Conclusion 
Staff believes that the design, scale, and materials of the proposal are generally compatible with the 
surrounding neighborhood, and would result in a consistent aesthetic approach. The proposed 
improvements to the existing structure would remain a harmonious contributor to the overall established 
streetscape where many older homes have been renovated to include second stories. After consultation 
with the Transportation Department, staff concludes that approving the applicant’s request to maintain a 
wall six feet in height approximately 14.8 feet from the front property line would not pose a view hazard and 
recommends that the Planning Commission approve the proposed project. 

 
Impact on City Resources 
The project sponsor is required to pay Planning, Building and Public Works permit fees, based on the City’s 
Master Fee Schedule, to fully cover the cost of staff time spent on the review of the project. 
 

 



Staff Report #: 24-016-PC 
Page 5 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

Environmental Review 
The project is categorically exempt under Class 1 (Section 15301, “Existing Facilities”) of the current 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines. 

 
Public Notice 
Public notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. Public notification also consisted of publishing a notice in the local newspaper 
and notification by mail of owners and occupants within a 300-foot radius of the subject property. 
 

Appeal Period 
The Planning Commission action will be effective after 15 days unless the action is appealed to the City 
Council, in which case the outcome of the application shall be determined by the City Council. 
 

Attachments 
A. Draft Planning Commission Resolution approving the use permit 

Exhibits to Attachment A 
A. Project Plans  
B. Project Description Letter  
C. Conditions of Approval 

B. Location Map 
C. Data Table 
 
Report prepared by: 
Connor Hochleutner, Assistant Planner 
 
Report reviewed by: 
Corinna Sandmeier, Principal Planner 



Resolution No. 2024-XXX 

PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION NO. 2024-XXX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 
MENLO PARK APPROVING A USE PERMIT TO PARTIALLY 
DEMOLISH, REMODEL, AND ADD FIRST- AND SECOND-STORY 
ADDITIONS TO AN EXISTING NONCONFORMING SINGLE-STORY, 
SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE IN THE R-1-U (SINGLE FAMILY 
URBAN RESIDENTIAL) ZONING DISTRICT, AT 919 ARNOLD WAY. 
THE PROPOSED WORK WOULD EXCEED 50 PERCENT OF THE 
REPLACEMENT VALUE OF THE EXISTING NONCONFORMING 
STRUCTURE IN A 12-MONTH PERIOD. THE APPLICANT IS ALSO 
REQUESTING TO MAINTAIN A WALL SIX FEET IN HEIGHT WITHIN 
THE FRONT SETBACK AT APPROXIMATELY 14.8 FEET FROM THE 
PROPERTY LINE.  

WHEREAS, the City of Menlo Park (“City”) received an application requesting a use 
permit to partially demolish , remodel, and add first- and second-story additions to an 
existing nonconforming single-story, single-family residence in the R-1-U (Single Family 
Urban Residential) zoning district, at 919 Arnold Way. The proposed work would exceed 
50 percent of the replacement value of the existing nonconforming structure in a 12-
month period. The applicant is also requesting to maintain a wall six feet in height within 
the front setback at approximately 14.8 feet from the property line (collectively, the 
“Project”) from Linder Jones (“Applicant”) on behalf of Morgan Ames and Josh Levenberg 
(“Owners”) located at 919 Arnold Way (APN 062-211-090) (“Property”). The Project use 
permit is depicted in and subject to the development plans and project description letter, 
which are attached hereto as Exhibit A and Exhibit B, respectively, and incorporated 
herein by this reference; and 

WHEREAS, the Property is located in the Single Family Urban Residential (R-1-U) 
district. The R-1-U district supports single-family residential uses; and 

WHEREAS, the existing residence is nonconforming with regard to the right and left 
side setbacks; and 

WHEREAS, the value of the proposed second-story addition and remodeling work 
would exceed 50 percent of the existing value in a 12-month period; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed addition would comply with all objective standards of the R-1-
U district; and 

WHEREAS, an existing six-foot tall wall, which exceeds the four-foot maximum height 
permitted for walls, fences, and hedges, is located within the required 20-foot front 
setback; and 

A1



Resolution No. 2024-XXX 
 

 

WHEREAS, the proposed Project was reviewed by the Engineering, Transportation, and 
Building Divisions and found to be in compliance with City standards; and 

WHEREAS, the project plans were reviewed by the City Arborist and found to be in 
compliance with the Heritage Tree Ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, the Project, requires discretionary actions by the City as summarized above, 
and therefore the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA,” Public Resources Code 
Section §21000 et seq.) and CEQA Guidelines (Cal. Code of Regulations, Title 14, 
§15000 et seq.) require analysis and a determination regarding the Project’s 
environmental impacts; and  

WHEREAS, the City is the lead agency, as defined by CEQA and the CEQA Guidelines, 
and is therefore responsible for the preparation, consideration, certification, and approval 
of environmental documents for the Project; and  

WHEREAS, the Project is categorically except from environmental review pursuant to 
Cal. Code of Regulations, Title 14, §15301 et seq. (Existing Facilities); and 

WHEREAS, all required public notices and public hearings were duly given and held 
according to law; and 

WHEREAS, at a duly and properly noticed public hearing held on March 25, 2024, the 
Planning Commission fully reviewed, considered, and evaluated the whole of the record 
including all public and written comments, pertinent information, documents and plans, 
prior to taking action regarding the Project. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE MENLO PARK PLANNING COMMISSION HEREBY 
RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1.  Recitals.  The Planning Commission has considered the full record before it, 
which may include but is not limited to such things as the staff report, public testimony, 
and other materials and evidence submitted or provided, and the Planning Commission 
finds the foregoing recitals are true and correct, and they are hereby incorporated by 
reference into this Resolution. 

Section 2.  Conditional Use Permit Findings.  The Planning Commission of the City of Menlo 
Park does hereby make the following Findings:   

The approval of the use permit for the renovation and expansion of a nonconforming single-
story structure exceeding 50 percent of the replacement value of the existing structure, and 
for an existing six-foot tall wall to remain within the required front setback, is granted based 

A2



Resolution No. 2024-XXX 
 

on the following findings, which are made pursuant to Menlo Park Municipal Code Section 
16.82.030: 

1. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the use applied for will, 
under the circumstance of the particular case, not be detrimental to the health, 
safety, morals, comfort and general welfare of the persons residing in the 
neighborhood of such proposed use, or injurious or detrimental to property and 
improvements in the neighborhood or the general welfare of the city because: 

a. Consideration and due regard were given to the nature and condition of 
all adjacent uses and structures, and to general plans for the area in 
question and surrounding areas, and impact of the application hereon; in 
that, the proposed use permit is consistent with the R-1-U zoning district 
and the General Plan because nonconforming residences are allowed to 
be maintained, repaired, altered and expanded, including the addition of 
a second-story, beyond 50 percent of the replacement value, subject to 
issuance of a use permit and provided that no increase in the 
nonconformity results and all other applicable regulations are met; and 
walls over four feet in height may be permitted within the required front 
setback subject to issuance of a use permit. The proposed project would 
not increase the nonconformity of the side walls, all additions would 
comply with required setbacks, and the project conforms to applicable 
zoning standards, including, but not limited to, maximum floor area limit 
and maximum building coverage. Additionally, the retention of the existing 
six-foot tall wall within the front setback was reviewed by the 
Transportation Division and found not to impeded line of sight 
requirements. 

 
b. The proposed residence would include a legally nonconforming number 

of off-street parking spaces because one covered and one uncovered 
parking space outside the front setback would be required at a minimum, 
and one covered parking space is provided.  

 
c. The proposed Project is designed to meet all the applicable codes and 

ordinances of the City of Menlo Park Municipal Code, aside from legal 
non-conforming, existing conditions, and the Commission concludes that 
the Project would not be detrimental to the health, safety, and welfare of 
the surrounding community as the renovated and expanded residence 
would be located in a single-family neighborhood and has been designed 
in a way to complement the existing scale of the surrounding homes.  
 

Section 3.  Conditional Use Permit.  The Planning Commission approves Use Permit 
No. PLN2023-00038, which use permit is depicted in and subject to the development 
plans and project description letter, which are attached hereto and incorporated herein 
by this reference as Exhibit A and Exhibit B, respectively.  The Use Permit is 
conditioned in conformance with the conditions attached hereto and incorporated herein 
by this reference as Exhibit C.   

A3



Resolution No. 2024-XXX 
 

 
Section 4.  ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW.  The Planning Commission makes the following 
findings, based on its independent judgment after considering the Project, and having 
reviewed and taken into consideration all written and oral information submitted in this matter: 

 
1. The Project is categorically exempt from environmental review pursuant to Cal. 
Code of Regulations, Title 14, §15301 et seq. (Existing Facilities). 

Section 5.  SEVERABILITY  

If any term, provision, or portion of these findings or the application of these findings to a 
particular situation is held by a court to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining 
provisions of these findings, or their application to other actions related to the Project, 
shall continue in full force and effect unless amended or modified by the City. 

I, Kyle Perata, Assistant Community Development Director of the City of Menlo Park, do 
hereby certify that the above and foregoing Planning Commission Resolution was duly 
and regularly passed and adopted at a meeting by said Planning Commission on March 
25, 2024, by the following votes: 

AYES:   

NOES:  

ABSENT:   

ABSTAIN:  
 
 
IN WITNESS THEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Official Seal of 
said City on this ______ day of March, 2024 
 
PC Liaison Signature 
 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Kyle Perata 
Assistant Community Development Director  
City of Menlo Park 
 
Exhibits 
A. Project plans  
B. Project description letter  
C. Conditions of approval 

A4



EXHIBIT A

A5



A6



A7



A8



A9



A10



A11



A12



A13



A14



A15



A16



A17



A18



A19



A20



A21



A22



A23



A24



A25



A26



A27



A28



Project Description for 919 Arnold Way 
Monday, October 16, 2023 2:40 PM 

PURPOSE OF THIS PROPOSAL 
The purpose of this proposal is to support a young family for long-term living 
in their home and to enrich their lives while doing so. This proposal also 
includes a plan to convert a portion of the existing first floor home to an ADU 
to assist Menlo Park in its goal of adding more housing, provide possible 
future rental and space for extended family. It will add second-floor 
bedrooms, bathrooms and a laundry room to provide a private living area for 
the family whilst converting existing space to an ADU. This plan will provide 
a first-floor multi-use room for a home office/guest bedroom and will enlarge 
the kitchen for additional storage and more room for family-engaged meal 
preparation. 

SCOPE OF WORK 
The scope of work encompasses converting a portion of the existing home to 
an ADU; constructing a first floor addition to house a kitchen, dining room, 
bathroom and utility room. There will be a second-floor addition consisting of 
3 bedrooms, 2 bathrooms and a laundry room. New fire sprinklers, solar 
electric system and battery storage will also be installed. 
We are proposing keeping and existing 6-feet tall concrete wall with-in the 
front site-back area. 

ARCHITECTURAL STYLE, MATERIALS, COLORS, AND CONSTRUCTION 
METHODS 
The architectural style will be a blend of Craftsman and California Ranch. 
Stucco material and color(s) will be matched to those existing. The durable, 
environmentally-friendly James Hardi cement siding on the second floor 
addition will simulate the existing siding on the first floor and will be finished 
to match the existing siding. The existing aging composition brown shingle 
roof will be replaced with new brown composition shingles and the same 
roofing material will be used on the second-floor addition roof. The 
construction method will mimic the construction methods of the existing 
house to best represent the original house. 
We will enlarge the kitchen, add to a bathroom and add a utility room (to 
house one of the heat pumps for heating and cooling the first floor) at the 
first floor. We will add additional solar panels and battery storage to the 
south side of the second-floor roof addition for this all-electric house. 

EXISTING AND PROPOSED USES 
The existing purpose is a single-family detached home. The proposed plan 
will remain the same with the inclusion of an ADU. 

OUTREACH TO NEIGHBORING PROPERTIES 
The proposed project has been shared with neighboring homeowners and all 
of them support this project. 

EXHIBIT B

A29



919 Arnold Way – ATT A Ex. C – Conditions of Approval 

PAGE: 1 of 2 

LOCATION: 919 Arnold 
Way 

PROJECT NUMBER: 
PLN2023-00038 

APPLICANT: Linder 
Jones 

OWNER: Morgan Ames 
and Josh Levenberg 

PROJECT CONDITIONS: 

1. The use permit shall be subject to the following standard conditions:

a. The applicant shall be required to apply for a building permit within one year from the
date of approval (by March 25, 2025) for the use permit to remain in effect.

b. Development of the project shall be substantially in conformance with the plans
prepared by Linder Jones consisting of 24 plan sheets, dated received March 18, 2024
and approved by the Planning Commission on March 25, 2024, except as modified by
the conditions contained herein, subject to review and approval of the Planning
Division.

c. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall comply with all Sanitary District,
Menlo Park Fire Protection District, and utility companies’ regulations that are directly
applicable to the project.

d. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall comply with all requirements of the
Building Division, Engineering Division, and Transportation Division that are directly
applicable to the project.

e. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall submit a plan for any new utility
installations or upgrades for review and approval by the Planning, Engineering and
Building Divisions. All utility equipment that is installed outside of a building and that
cannot be placed underground shall be properly screened by landscaping. The plan
shall show exact locations of all meters, back flow prevention devices, transformers,
junction boxes, relay boxes, and other equipment boxes.

f. Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the applicant
shall submit plans indicating that the applicant shall remove and replace any damaged
and significantly worn sections of frontage improvements. The plans shall be submitted
for review and approval of the Engineering Division.

g. Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the applicant
shall submit a Grading and Drainage Plan for review and approval of the Engineering
Division. The Grading and Drainage Plan shall be approved prior to the issuance of
grading, demolition or building permits.

h. Heritage trees in the vicinity of the construction project shall be protected pursuant to
the Heritage Tree Ordinance.

i. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall pay all fees incurred through staff
time spent reviewing the application.

j. The applicant or permittee shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the City of Menlo
Park or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action, or proceeding against
the City of Menlo Park or its agents, officers, or employees to attack, set aside, void, or
annul an approval of the Planning Commission, City Council, Community Development
Director, or any other department, committee, or agency of the City concerning a
development, variance, permit, or land use approval which action is brought within the
time period provided for in any applicable statute; provided, however, that the applicant’s
or permittee’s duty to so defend, indemnify, and hold harmless shall be subject to the
City’s promptly notifying the applicant or permittee of any said claim, action, or
proceeding and the City’s full cooperation in the applicant’s or permittee’s defense of said
claims, actions, or proceedings.

EXHIBIT C

A30



919 Arnold Way – ATT A Ex. C – Conditions of Approval 

PAGE: 2 of 2 

LOCATION: 919 Arnold 
Way 

PROJECT NUMBER: 
PLN2023-00038 

APPLICANT: Linder 
Jones 

OWNER: Morgan Ames 
and Josh Levenberg 

PROJECT CONDITIONS: 

k. Notice of Fees Protest – The applicant may protest any fees, dedications, reservations, 
or other exactions imposed by the City as part of the approval or as a condition of 
approval of this development. Per California Government Code 66020, this 90-day 
protest period has begun as of the date of the approval of this application. 

2. The use permit shall be subject to the following project-specific conditions: 
 

a. Prior to building permit final inspection, the applicant shall remove the portions of the 
front yard wall that extend into the right-of-way, subject to review and approval of the 
Planning and Engineering Divisions. 

 

 
 

A31



City of Menlo Park

919 Arnold Way
Location Map

Date: 3/25/2024 Drawn By:4,000 CDH Checked By: CDS1: Sheet: 1Scale:

ATTACHMENT B

B1



919 Arnold Way – Attachment C: Data Table 

PROPOSED 
PROJECT 

EXISTING 
PROJECT 

ZONING 
ORDINANCE 

Lot area 6,450 sf 6,450 sf 7,000 sf min 
Lot width 49.9 ft 49.9  ft 65 ft min 
Lot depth 130 ft 130  ft 100 ft min 
Setbacks 

Front 25 ft 25 ft 20 ft min 
Rear 27.3 ft 27.3 ft 20 ft min 
Side (left) 2.4 ft 2.4 ft 10% of minimum lot width 

but no less than 5 ft Side (right) 3.8 ft 3.8 ft 
Building coverage* 2,545 

39 
sf 
% 

2,584 
40 

sf 
% 

2,257 
35 

sf max 
% max 

FAL (Floor Area Limit)* 3,254 sf 2,112 sf 2,800 sf max 
Square footage by floor 1,331 

1,051 
649 
223 
342 

sf/1st

sf/2nd 

ADU 
sf/garage 
sf/covered 
porch/trellis/ 
bike storage 

1,829 
283 
472 

sf/1st 
sf/garage 
sf/covered 
porch/trellis/ 
bike storage 

Square footage of buildings 3,596 sf 2,112 sf 
Building height 17.8 ft 14.9 ft 28 ft max 
Parking 1 covered space 1 covered space 1 covered and 1 uncovered 

space 
Note: Areas shown highlighted indicate a nonconforming or substandard situation 

Trees Heritage trees 2 Non-Heritage trees 4 New trees 0 
Heritage trees 
proposed for 
removal 

0 Non-Heritage trees 
proposed for removal 

1 Total Number of 
trees  

5 

*The project is permitted to exceed the building coverage and floor area limits by 649 square feet to allow for the conversion of
existing floor area into an ADU.

ATTACHMENT C

C1



Community Development 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

 
 
STAFF REPORT 

Planning Commission    
Meeting Date:   3/25/2024 
Staff Report Number:  24-017-PC 
 
Public Hearing:  Consider and adopt a resolution to determine that 

Stanford University (“Stanford”) has demonstrated 
good faith compliance with the provisions of the 
500 El Camino Real (Middle Plaza) Development 
Agreement, located at 200-500 El Camino Real, for 
the period of May 2022 through March 2024. Review 
of the Development Agreement does not qualify as 
a project under CEQA.  

 
Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission adopt a resolution that Stanford University (“Stanford”) 
has demonstrated good faith compliance with the provisions of the Middle Plaza at 500 El Camino Real 
Development Agreement for the period of May 2022 through March 2024. The draft Planning Commission 
resolution is included as Attachment A. 

 
Policy Issues 
The Planning Commission should consider whether or not Stanford has demonstrated its good faith 
compliance with the provisions of its development agreement.  

 
Background 
The project is a mixed-use development consisting of non-medical office, retail/restaurant, and residential 
uses on an 8.4-acre site, with a total of approximately 153,126 square feet of non-residential uses and 215 
residential units. Of the three office buildings, office building 1, comprised of approximately 34,526 square 
feet, is predominately being developed with retail/restaurant and supporting office uses, and office buildings 
2 and 3, comprising a total of approximately 118,600 square feet, are being developed with office uses. 
Applicable entitlements and agreements for this project included architectural control, development 
agreement, heritage tree removal permits, and a below market rate (BMR) housing agreement. The Middle 
Plaza Development Agreement (DA) is available as Exhibit A to Attachment A. 
 
In addition to the three office buildings, the project consists of four residential buildings, and two, two-level 
underground parking garages. The project also includes an approximately one-half acre plaza at Middle 
Avenue (Middle Plaza) that provides publicly-accessible open space and a future connection between El 
Camino Real and a proposed grade-separated, pedestrian and bicycle crossing at the Caltrain tracks. All 
building permits have been granted occupancy and the plaza is open to the public. The City Council 
approved the Middle Plaza at 500 El Camino Real project on September 26 and October 10, 2017. A 
location map is included as Attachment B and the approved plans are included as Attachment C. 
 
There have been three previous annual reviews and the Planning Commission found Stanford to be in good 
faith compliance with the DA on the following dates, with the review periods in parenthesis: 



Staff Report #: 24-017-PC 
Page 2 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

 
• February 10, 2020 (October 2017 through February 2020) 
• March 8, 2021 (February 2020 through February 2021) 
• June 13, 2022 (March 2021 through May 2022) 
 
Caltrain crossing 
On August 27, 2019, the City Council unanimously passed a motion to select the preferred concept for the 
associated Middle Avenue pedestrian and bicycle rail crossing, consisting of an undercrossing 
approximately 10 to 12 feet below the street/plaza elevation. On January 28, 2020, the City Council certified 
the environmental document for the crossing (an addendum to the El Camino Real and Downtown Specific 
Plan Environmental Impact Report), approved the 30 percent project plans, and authorized the City 
Manager to enter into all necessary agreements and amendments with the Peninsula Joint Powers Board 
(Caltrain) within the City Council-approved project budget.  
 
The City has been coordinating with Caltrain on the final design of the undercrossing and working to secure 
full funding for the project. The City has developed an updated design for the undercrossing with a longer 
and deeper tunnel to accommodate Caltrain requirements not to build ramps in their right-of-way and to 
build the tunnel without the need to stop rail operations. On August 29, 2023 the City Council officially 
approved the updated concept for the crossing. The earliest the undercrossing could be constructed is in 
2025, when Caltrain has completed electrification of the railroad.  

 
Analysis 
A development agreement is a legally binding contract between the City of Menlo Park and an applicant that 
delineates the terms and conditions of a proposed development project. A development agreement allows 
an applicant to secure vested rights and allows the City to secure benefits that are generally not obtainable 
otherwise. Development agreements are commonly used for land use developments that are implemented 
in phases over a period of time. Development agreements provide assurances to both the applicant and the 
City that the terms of the agreement will be in force until the completion of the project, and in some cases, 
elements of the development agreement could be in effect for the life of the project. Development 
agreements are enabled by California Government Code Sections 65864-65869.5. 
 
The City Council adopted Resolution No. 4159 in January 1990, establishing the procedures and 
requirements for the consideration of development agreements. Resolution No. 4159 calls for the Planning 
Commission to conduct a public hearing at which the property owner (or representative for the property 
owner) must demonstrate good faith compliance with the terms of the agreement. The Planning 
Commission is to determine, upon the basis of substantial evidence, whether or not the property owner has, 
for the period under review, complied in good faith with the terms and conditions of the agreement. The 
decision of the Planning Commission is final, unless it is appealed to the City Council. These provisions 
implement Government Code Section 65865.1, which requires the periodic review, at least once every 12 
months, to determine good faith compliance with the terms of the agreement. 
 
The applicant has submitted a summary of the relevant DA requirements (Attachment D). In evaluating 
Stanford’s progress at implementing the Development Agreement, staff has developed a classification 
system to describe how the specific requirements are being implemented using four categories. Three of 
these categories are consistent with the principle of good faith compliance with the terms of the agreements 
and are as follows: 
 



Staff Report #: 24-017-PC 
Page 3 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

• Completed: A One-time Action was completed or an Ongoing Activity occurred during the DA review 
year.  

• In Progress/Ongoing: A One-time Action is underway (acceptable progress).  
• Conditional: The triggering event, condition, or requirement to undertake an item has not occurred and 

no action is necessary at this time. 
 
The fourth category, described as Unacceptable Progress implies that, at least potentially, good faith 
compliance for that item may not have occurred. However, a determination of substantial and persistent 
non-implementation of a development agreement would have to occur before a lack of good faith 
compliance could truly be determined. None of the DA requirements have been identified as Unacceptable 
Progress. 
 
The DA includes four action items that are associated with the annual DA tracking. Staff has determined 
that Stanford is in compliance with the terms of their DA. The summary of the implementation status of the 
four development agreement requirements is provided in the following table. 
 

Table 1: 500 El Camino Real Development Agreement Summary 

Implementation Status Items 

Completed  2 

In Progress/Ongoing 0 

Conditional 2 

Unacceptable Progress 0 
 
The following is a more detailed description of the terms of the DA for the Middle Plaza at 500 El Camino 
Real project.  
 
Completed 
1. Affordable Housing. Stanford will record a below market rate (BMR) housing agreement for the 

provision of 10 residential units in the project affordable to individuals at the low-income level, or eight 
units affordable to individuals at the low-income level if the 2131 Sand Hill Road project is not approved. 
(The 2131 Sand Hill Road project is not currently approved.) 
 
Status: Completed - The BMR agreement has been executed and recorded on November 17, 2017. 
According to the City’s BMR administrator, Housing Inc., four of the eight BMR units are vacant as of 
March 5, 2024, and Stanford is working to fill these units. 

 
2. Privately Owned and Operated Publicly Accessible Open Space. The project will include a privately 

owned and operated, publicly accessible plaza at Middle Avenue.  

Status: Completed – The Public Use Agreement was recorded with the County of San Mateo on March 
17, 2023 and the plaza is open to the public.  

 
Conditional 
3. Funding for Crossing.  Stanford will pay 50 percent of the cost of the Caltrain Pedestrian/Bicycle 



Staff Report #: 24-017-PC 
Page 4 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

crossing, up to $5 million.  
 

Status: Conditional - This provision will not apply until after the City has secured full construction 
funding, and obtained all necessary approvals and property rights to construct and operate the crossing. 
As noted in the background section, the City is proceeding with the relevant actions for the associated 
crossing project.  

 
4. Education Foundation Payments. Stanford will contribute an initial lump sum payment of $1.5 million 

to the Menlo Park-Atherton Education Foundation (MPAEF) to be placed in an endowment fund for 
support of the Menlo Park City School District (MPCSD). In addition, Stanford will contribute a second 
lump sum payment, up to $1 million, consisting of Stanford’s savings if its required contribution to the 
cost of the crossing is less than $5 million. 

Status: Conditional - Stanford paid the initial lump sum of 1.5 million to the MPAEF in September 2021. 
Based on current project cost estimates, it is anticipated Stanford’s required contribution for the crossing 
will be $5 million, and therefore the second payment will not be applicable. 

 
Conclusion 
Staff believes that the applicant has demonstrated a good faith compliance with the terms of the Middle 
Plaza Development Agreement for the period from May 2022 through March 2024. The applicant has 
completed all applicable requirements. Staff anticipates bringing forward future reviews on an annual basis 
with the next review occurring in Spring 2025 for the term of April 2024 through March 2025. 

 
Impact on City Resources 
The applicant is required to fully cover the cost of staff time spent on the DA annual review. 

 
Environmental Review 
The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) requires that activities which meet the definition of a  
Project be evaluated for their potential impacts on the environment. The annual review of the development 
agreement has no potential to result in an impact to the environment and does not meet the definition of a 
Project under CEQA; as a result, no environmental review or determination is needed. The environmental 
impacts of the project and associated development agreement were evaluated and considered through an 
Infill EIR at the time the project was initially approved by the City in 2017. 

 
Public Notice 
Public notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. Public notification also consisted of publishing a notice in the local newspaper. 

 
Attachments 
A. Draft Planning Commission Resolution 

Exhibits to Attachment A 
A. Development Agreement – https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-

development/documents/projects/under-construction/middle-plaza-at-500-el-camino-real/da-300-
550-el-camino-real-middle-plaza.pdf  

https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/under-construction/middle-plaza-at-500-el-camino-real/da-300-550-el-camino-real-middle-plaza.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/under-construction/middle-plaza-at-500-el-camino-real/da-300-550-el-camino-real-middle-plaza.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/under-construction/middle-plaza-at-500-el-camino-real/da-300-550-el-camino-real-middle-plaza.pdf


Staff Report #: 24-017-PC 
Page 5 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

B. Location Map 
C. Project Plans: https://www.menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/15373/Middle-Plaza-at-500-El-

Camino-Real-project-plans  
D. Summary of Middle Plaza Development Agreement Compliance   
 
Report prepared by: 
Corinna Sandmeier, Principal Planner 
 
Report reviewed by: 
Kyle Perata, Assistant Community Development Director 

https://www.menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/15373/Middle-Plaza-at-500-El-Camino-Real-project-plans
https://www.menlopark.org/DocumentCenter/View/15373/Middle-Plaza-at-500-El-Camino-Real-project-plans


PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION NO. 2024-XXX 

RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF MENLO 
PARK FINDING STANFORD UNIVERSITY (“STANFORD”) TO BE IN GOOD 
FAITH COMPLIANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE DEVELOPMENT 
AGREEMENT FOR THE MIDDLE PLAZA AT 500 EL CAMINO REAL MIXED-
USE PROJECT 

WHEREAS, the City of Menlo Park (“City”) approved the Middle Plaza at 500 El Camino Real 
project, a mixed-use project consisting of non-medical office, retail/restaurant, and residential 
uses on an 8.4-acre site, with a total of approximately 153,126 square feet of non-residential 
uses and 215 residential units, located at 500 El Camino (APN 071-440-170), on September 26 
and October 10, 2017. The approved Development Agreement for the project is attached hereto 
as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by this reference; and 

WHEREAS, the Property is located in the El Camino Real/Downtown Specific Plan (SP-ECR-D) 
zoning district and the ECR SW sub-district, which supports a variety of uses including retail, 
personal services, offices, and residential uses; and 

WHEREAS, Stanford has completed two actions that are associated with the annual 
Development Agreement tracking and for the remaining two actions the triggering event, 
condition, or requirement to undertake the action has not occurred; and 

WHEREAS, the City is the lead agency, as defined by CEQA and the CEQA Guidelines, and is 
therefore responsible for the preparation, consideration, certification, and approval of 
environmental documents for the project; and  

WHEREAS, the environmental impacts of the mixed-use project and associated development 
agreement were evaluated and considered through an Infill EIR at the time the project was 
initially approved by the City in; and 

WHEREAS, the annual review of the development agreement has no potential to result in an 
impact to the environment and does not meet the definition of a project under CEQA, and as a 
result, no environmental review or determination is needed; and 

WHEREAS, all required public notices and public hearings were duly given and held according 
to law; and 

WHEREAS, at a duly and properly noticed public hearing held on March 25, 2024, the Planning 
Commission fully reviewed, considered, and evaluated the whole of the record including all 
public and written comments, pertinent information, documents and plans, prior to taking action. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE MENLO PARK PLANNING COMMISSION HEREBY RESOLVES AS 
FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  Recitals.  The Planning Commission has considered the full record before it, which 
may include but is not limited to such things as the staff report, public testimony, and other 
materials and evidence submitted or provided, and the Planning Commission finds the foregoing 
recitals are true and correct, and they are hereby incorporated by reference into this Resolution. 

ATTACHMENT A

A1



 Resolution No. 2024-XXX 
  
  
  
Section 2.  Development Agreement Annual Review Findings.  The Planning Commission of the 
City of Menlo Park does hereby make the following Findings:   
 

1. Stanford is in good compliance with the provisions of the approved Development 
Agreement for the period of May 2022 through March 2024. 
 

Section 3.  SEVERABILITY  
 
If any term, provision, or portion of these findings or the application of these findings to a 
particular situation is held by a court to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining 
provisions of these findings, or their application to other actions related to the Project, shall 
continue in full force and effect unless amended or modified by the City. 
 
 
I, Kyle Perata, Assistant Community Development Director of the City of Menlo Park, do hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing Planning Commission Resolution was duly and regularly 
passed and adopted at a meeting by said Planning Commission on March 25, 2024, by the 
following votes: 
 
AYES:   
NOES:   
ABSENT:   
ABSTAIN:   
 
 
IN WITNESS THEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Official Seal of said City 
on this ______day of March, 2024 
 
PC Liaison Signature 
 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Kyle Perata 
Assistant Community Development Director  
City of Menlo Park 
 
 
Exhibit 
A. Development Agreement – Middle Plaza at 500 El Camino Real Project 
 

A2



City of Menlo Park

Middle Plaza
Location Map

Date: 3/25/2024 4,000 Drawn By: CDS Checked By: KTP1: Sheet: 1Scale:

ATTACHMENT B

B1



TRACKING DOCUMENT
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

MIDDLE PLAZA AT 500 EL CAMINO REAL PROJECT 

JANUARY 15, 2020

Development Agreement Annual Tracking Document  2.28.2024

Item # Item Payment Type/Triggering Event Status
5 Funding for Crossing. Owner shall be obligated to pay the City 

fifty percent (50%) of the cost to construct the Crossing, up to 
a maximum of Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000) ("Crossing 
Payment").

Payment shall be made  within sixty (60) days of written 
demand by City supported by evidence of the cost of Crossing 
construction reasonably acceptable to Owner, once City has 
confirmation that: (i) it has obtained or has been awarded 
complete and full funding to construct all components of the 
Crossing; (ii) the City has completed and the City Council has 
approved the final design for the Crossing; (iii) the City has 
completed all steps necessary to achieve compliance with the 
California Environmental Quality Act to construct and operate 
the Crossing; and (iv) the City has obtained all necessary 
approvals, permits and property rights from other public 
agencies and private landowners to construct and operate the 
Crossing.

PENDING CITY ACTION: The City of Menlo Park has not made 
the written request.

6 Education Foundation Payments. To support the Menlo Park 
City School District, Owner agrees to pay the Menlo Park 
Atherton Education Foundation an initial lump sum payment 
of One Million Five Hundred thousand dollars ($1,500,000) to 
be placed in an endowment fund for support of the District.

The payment is potentially two payments. The initial lump 
sum payment shall be due and payable one (1) year after 
issuance of the last building permit for the residential and 
office buildings to be constructed as part of the Project. 

COMPLETED: The payment was issued and deposited on 
9/28/21, see sheet #2 for a copy of the check.

In addition, Owner agrees to pay the Menlo Park Atherton 
Education Foundation a second lump sum payment for the 
same endowment fund of up to One Million dollars 
($1,000,000) of any savings by Owner in its contribution to 
the cost of the Crossing to be determined as follows: (a) the 
second lump sum payment shall be due and payable to the 
Education Foundation within sixty (60) days of completion of 
construction of the Crossing; (b) the amount of the second 
lump sum payment shall be equal to the difference between 
the maximum amount of the Crossing Payment described in 
Section 5 of this Agreement (Five Million dollars [$5,000,000] 
as adjusted annually by the Engineering News Record 
Construction Cost Index) and any lesser amount demanded by 
the City for Owner's contribution to the Crossing pursuant to 
Section 5 of this Agreement, so long as the resulting second 
lump sum payment does not exceed One Million dollars ($1 
1000,000).

COMPLIANCE WITH THIS CONDITION IS TIED TO CONDTION 
#5. The conditions of Section 5 (above) have not yet been 
met.

7
Affordable Housing. Concurrently with the recordation of this 
Agreement, Owner and City shall execute and record an 
Affordable Housing Agreement ("Affordable Housing 
Agreement") for the provision of a total of ten (10) units in 
the Project to be occupied exclusively by, and rented to, Low 
Income Households ("Low Income Units"). (If the 2131 Sand 
Hill Road project is not approved, Owner would provide eight 
(8) one-bedroom BMR units at the low-income level.)

Concurrently with the recordation of the Development 
Agreement.

COMPLETED: The Affordable Housing Agreement was 
recorded with the Clerk Recorder of the County of San  Mateo 
on November 17, 2017. (Document # 2017-1026430.  NOTE: 
As of the January 15, 2020, the 2131 Sand Hill Road project is 
not approved. Therefore, the Owner is only required to 
provide eight (8) one-bedroom BMR units at the low-income 
level.

8
Privately Owned and Operated Publicly Accessible Open 
Space: The Project includes a privately owned and operated 
publicly accessible plaza at Middle Avenue.  The Public Use 
Agreement may be amended from time to time by mutual 
agreement of the City and the Owner, and any amendment to 
the Public Use Agreement shall automatically be deemed to 
be incorporated into this Agreement without any further 
requirement to amend this Agreement.

Prior to issuance of a City permit allowing occupancy of office, 
retail, or residential space in the Project, the Parties shall 
enter into and record a public use agreement in substantially 
the same form as the agreement attached to this Agreement 
as Exhibit D (the "Public Use Agreement").

COMPLETED: THE Public Use Agreement was recorded with 
the County of San Mateo on March 17, 2023.

ATTACHMENT D

D1



Community Development 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

 
 
STAFF REPORT 

Planning Commission    
Meeting Date:   3/25/2024 
Staff Report Number:  24-018-PC 
 
Public Hearing:  Consider and adopt a resolution to determine that 

Presidio Bay Ventures has demonstrated good faith 
compliance with the provisions of the Springline 
mixed-use development project (“Springline”) 
Development Agreement, located at 1300 El Camino 
Real, for the period of October 2021 through March 
2024. Review of the Development Agreement does 
not qualify as a project under CEQA.  

 
Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission adopt a resolution that Presidio Bay Ventures has 
demonstrated good faith compliance with the provisions of the Springline Development Agreement, located 
at 1300 El Camino Real, for the period of October 2021 through March 2024. The draft Planning 
Commission resolution is included as Attachment A. 

 
Policy Issues 
The Planning Commission should consider whether or not Presidio Bay Ventures has demonstrated its 
good faith compliance with the provisions of the Development Agreement.  

 
Background 
The City Council approved the Springline project (also known at the time as “Station 1300”) on January 24 
and February 7, 2017. The project is a mixed-use development consisting of non-medical office, residential, 
and community-serving uses on a 6.4-acre site, with a total of approximately 229,000 square feet of non-
residential uses, inclusive of additional square footage approved in 2021, and 183 dwelling units. A location 
map is included as Attachment B, the 2017 approved plans are included as Attachment C and the 2021 
approved revisions to the plans are included as Attachment D. 
 
Applicable entitlements and agreements for this project included architectural control, development 
agreement, tentative map, use permit, heritage tree removal permits, and below market rate (BMR) housing 
agreement. Subsequently, architectural control and use permit revisions were approved by the Planning 
Commission on November 22, 2021, and on December 7, 2021 and December 14, 2021, the City Council 
approved associated amendments to the Specific Plan and an amendment to the development agreement 
(DA). The DA is included as Exhibit A to Attachment A and the amendment to the DA is included as Exhibit 
B to Attachment A. 
  
The first DA annual review took place on July 29, 2019, covering the period of February 2017 through July 
2019. At this meeting, the Planning Commission determined that Greenheart Land Company (the project 
manager at that time) had demonstrated good faith compliance with the provisions of the DA. In mid-2020, 
the property owner (Real Social Good Investment, LLC,) made a change of project management, with 



Staff Report #: 24-018-PC 
Page 2 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

Presidio Bay Ventures taking the place of Greenheart Land Company. Presidio Bay Ventures then 
rebranded the project as “Springline”. The second DA annual review took place on October 19, 2020, 
covering the period of July 2019 through October 2020. At this meeting, the Planning Commission 
determined that Presidio Bay Ventures had demonstrated good faith compliance with the provisions of the 
DA.  
 
Construction of the Springline project is complete and all buildings have received final Certificates of 
Occupancy. The dog park, several restaurants, and the public spaces within the project, including the 
central plaza, are all in use. Aside from a suite in the north office building and one vacant restaurant space 
in the residential building, all commercial spaces are filled.  

 
Analysis 
A development agreement is a legally binding contract between the City of Menlo Park and an applicant that 
delineates the terms and conditions of a proposed development project. A development agreement allows 
an applicant to secure vested rights and allows the City to secure benefits that are generally not obtainable 
otherwise. Development agreements are commonly used for land use developments which are 
implemented in phases over a period of time. Development agreements provide assurances to both the 
applicant and the City that the terms of the agreement will be in force until the completion of the project, and 
in some cases, elements of the development agreement could be in effect for the life of the project. 
Development agreements are enabled by California Government Code Sections 65864-65869.5. 
 
The City Council adopted Resolution No. 4159 in January 1990, establishing the procedures and 
requirements for the consideration of development agreements. Resolution No. 4159 for the Planning 
Commission to conduct a public hearing at which the property owner (or representative for the property 
owner) must demonstrate good faith compliance with the terms of the agreement. The Planning 
Commission is to determine, upon the basis of substantial evidence, whether or not the property owner has, 
for the period under review, complied in good faith with the terms and conditions of the agreement. The 
decision of the Planning Commission is final, unless it is appealed to the City Council. These provisions 
implement Government Code Section 65865.1 which requires the periodic review to determine compliance 
with the terms of the agreement.  
 
The applicant has submitted a summary of the overall project status and the relevant DA requirements 
(Attachment E). In evaluating Presidio Bay Ventures’ progress at implementing the DA, staff has developed 
a classification system to describe how the specific requirements are being implemented using four 
categories. Three of these categories are consistent with the principle of good faith compliance with the 
terms of the agreements and are as follows: 
 
• Completed: A one-time action or an ongoing activity was completed during the DA review term.  
• In Progress/Ongoing: A one-time action or an ongoing activity is underway (acceptable progress).  
• Conditional: The triggering event, condition, or requirement to undertake an item has not occurred and 

no action is necessary at this time. 
 
The fourth category, described as Unacceptable Progress implies that, at least potentially, good faith 
compliance for that item may not have occurred. However, a determination that substantial and persistent 
non-implementation of a DA would have to occur before a lack of good faith compliance could truly be 
determined. None of the DA requirements have been identified as Unacceptable Progress. 
 



Staff Report #: 24-018-PC 
Page 3 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

The DA includes five action items that are associated with the annual DA tracking. Staff determined that 
Presidio Bay Ventures Land Company is in compliance with the terms of their DA. The summary of the 
implementation status of the five DA requirements is provided in the following table. 
 

Table 1: 1300 El Camino Real Development Agreement Summary 

Implementation status Items 

Completed 4 

In Progress/Ongoing 0 

Conditional 1 

Unacceptable Progress 0 

 
The following is a more detailed description of the terms of the DA for the 1300 El Camino Real Project.  
 

Completed 
1. Contribution to the Public Amenity Fund. Prior to the building permit for the underground parking 

garage being issued, Applicant shall pay $1.05 Million to the Downtown Public Amenity Fund. Applicant 
shall make a second $1.05 Million payment to the same fund prior to any occupancy.  
 
Additional requirement from DA Amendment: Prior to issuance of a building permit for buildout of the 
new basement areas, owner shall make $300,000 additional public benefit payment to the City.  
 
Status: Completed – All payments have been made. 
 
The amended DA specified that the additional public benefit payment be used to fund completion of 
Caltrain quiet zone feasibility study, if needed, or to fund improvements (e.g. improved railroad 
crossings) that the City may undertake based on the recommendations of the quiet zone feasibility 
study. If any funds remain, they would be placed into the City's Downtown Public Amenity Fund. 
 
On July 22, 2022, the City Council approved a scope of work with Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. to 
conduct the quiet zone study. This study included the crossings in Menlo Park, as well as Palo Alto 
Avenue, through a partnership with the City of Palo Alto.  
 
On April 25, 2023, the City Council provided direction to staff to pursue design of railroad gate 
improvements at Ravenswood Avenue and Oak Grove Avenue to facilitate implementation of a quiet 
zone. The planning phase identified that installing four quadrant gates at these two crossings would 
enable the City to establish a quiet zone at all crossings. The City is working with Caltrain to develop 
engineering designs for four quadrant gates at Ravenswood Avenue and Oak Grove Avenue. For the 
current fiscal year, Public Works staff indicate the budget for the design of quiet zone improvements is 
approximately $402,000 and additional funds will be needed in the next fiscal year to complete the 
design phase. Future funding will also be needed for the grade crossing improvements of the project.  

 



Staff Report #: 24-018-PC 
Page 4 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

2. Execution and Recordation of the BMR Housing Agreement for BMR units. 
 

Additional requirement from DA Amendment: Prior to issuance of a building permit, owner shall pay 
to the City the commercial in-lieu fee in accordance with the City's BMR Guidelines for the net increase 
of approximately 4,000 square feet of non-residential gross floor area. 

 
Status: Completed - The agreement has been executed and recorded. Currently, 18 of the 20 BMR units 
are leased. The applicant’s letter (Attachment E) indicates an application to lease one of the vacant 
BMR units is currently under review. On March 20, 2024, the applicant indicated to staff that applications 
to lease both of the remaining two BMR units are now under review. The commercial in-lieu fee payment 
of $60,500 has been made. 
 

3. Operation of a Dog Park: As part of the on-site improvements, the applicant will construct and operate 
an "open to the public" dog park. The dog park must be open before any residential unit receives 
occupancy. 

 
Status: Complete – Construction of the dog park is complete and it is open to the public. The adopted 
DA includes a Public Use Agreement that covers operational aspects of the dog park, separate from the 
rules/regulations that will be posted for users’ of the park. This Public Use Agreement has been finalized 
and recorded. The applicant submitted a building permit for a shade structure over the dog park, in part 
to keep the turf from getting too hot. The building permit is current under review.  
 

4. Marketing to Incubator/Co-Working Tenants: Applicant shall make a good faith effort to market the 
office space to incubator/co-working tenants as per the plan outlined in Exhibit D of the DA. 

 
Status: Complete – Canopy, Springline’s co-working operator, located in the south office building, is 
open and has membership options for the general public. The co-working space wraps around a central 
café that fronts on El Camino Real.  

 

Conditional 
5. Sales Tax Guarantee: Applicant will guarantee to the City $83,700 in sales tax per year from the 1300 

El Camino Real retail and office space. This obligation will start two years after occupancy of the final 
office or residential building is permitted, and is adjusted yearly by the area CPI (Consumer Price Index).  
 
Status: Conditional – Occupancy was granted for the final building on August 2, 2022, so the obligations 
under the Sales Tax Guarantee will begin in August 2024. Finance Division staff are reaching out to 
Presido Bay Ventures to discuss the process for compliance with the Sales Tax Guarantee. 

 

Conclusion 
Staff believes that the applicant has demonstrated a good faith compliance with the terms of the Springline 
Development Agreement and Development Agreement Amendment for the period from October 2021 
through March 2024. The applicant has completed all applicable requirements and City staff and the 
applicant are beginning the compliance for the Sales Tax Guarantee item, which will be reported on during 
the next annual review. Staff anticipates bringing forward future reviews on an annual basis with the next 



Staff Report #: 24-018-PC 
Page 5 

 

   
 

 
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

review occurring in Spring 2025 for the term of April 2024 through March 2025. 

 
Impact on City Resources 
The applicant is required to fully cover the cost of staff time spent on the DA annual review. 

 
Environmental Review 
The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) requires that activities which meet the definition of a 
Project be evaluated for their potential impacts on the environment. The annual review of the 1300 El 
Camino Real Project Development Agreement and Development Agreement Amendment has no potential 
to result in an impact to the environment and does not meet the definition of a Project under CEQA; as a 
result, no environmental review or determination is needed. The environmental impacts of the project and 
associated development agreement were evaluated and considered through an Infill EIR at the time the 
project was initially approved by the City in 2017. Additionally, an Addendum to the Infill EIR was prepared 
in 2021, which summarized the revisions to the project, as well as the associated Specific Plan 
amendments.   

 
Public Notice 
Public notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. Public notification also consisted of publishing a notice in the local newspaper. 

 
Attachments 
A. Draft Planning Commission Resolution 

Exhibits to Attachment A 
A. Approved DA: https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-

development/documents/projects/completed/springline/development-agreement.pdf  
B. Amendment to the DA: https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-

development/documents/projects/completed/springline/amendment-to-development-agreement.pdf  
B. Location Map 
C. Approved plan set (2017): https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-

development/documents/projects/completed/springline/2017-approved-plan-set.pdf  
D. Approved revisions to plan set (2021): https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-

development/documents/projects/completed/springline/2021-approved-revisions.pdf  
E. Letter from Applicant  

 
 

Report prepared by: 
Corinna Sandmeier, Principal Planner 
 
Report review by: 
Kyle Perata, Assistant Community Development Director 

https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/completed/springline/development-agreement.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/completed/springline/development-agreement.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/completed/springline/amendment-to-development-agreement.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/completed/springline/amendment-to-development-agreement.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/completed/springline/2017-approved-plan-set.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/completed/springline/2017-approved-plan-set.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/completed/springline/2021-approved-revisions.pdf
https://menlopark.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/community-development/documents/projects/completed/springline/2021-approved-revisions.pdf


PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION NO. 2024-XXX 

RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF MENLO 
PARK FINDING PRESIDIO BAY VENTURES TO BE IN GOOD FAITH 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT AND 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT AMENDMENT FOR THE SPRINGLINE (1300 
EL CAMINO REAL) MIXED-USE PROJECT  

WHEREAS,  the City of Menlo Park (“City”), City Council approved the Springline project, a 
mixed-use project consisting of non-medical office, residential, and community-serving uses on 
a 6.4-acre site, with a total of approximately 229,000 square feet of non-residential uses and 
183 dwelling units, at 1300 El Camino Real on January 24 and February 7, 2017, with revisions 
approved by the Planning Commission on November 22, 2021  and the City Council on 
December 7 and December 14, 2021, located at 1300 El Camino Real (APN 061-430-490) 
(“Property”). The approved Development Agreement and approved amendment to the 
Development Agreement are attached hereto as Exhibit A and Exhibit B, respectively, and 
incorporated herein by this reference; and 

WHEREAS, the Property is located in the El Camino Real/Downtown Specific Plan zoning (SP-
ECR-D) zoning and the ECR NE sub-district, which supports a variety of uses including retail, 
personal services, offices, and residential uses; and 

WHEREAS, Presidio Bay Ventures has completed four out of five actions that are associated 
with the annual Development Agreement tracking and for the remaining action the triggering 
event, condition, or requirement to undertake the action has not occurred; and 

WHEREAS, the City is the lead agency, as defined by CEQA and the CEQA Guidelines, and is 
therefore responsible for the preparation, consideration, certification, and approval of 
environmental documents for the project; and  

WHEREAS, the environmental impacts of the mixed-use project and associated development 
agreement were evaluated and considered at the time the project was initially approved by the 
City in 2017 and in 2021 when revisions to the project and the amended DA were approved by 
the City; and     

WHEREAS, the annual review of the Development Agreement has no potential to result in an 
impact to the environment and does not meet the definition of a project under CEQA, and as a 
result, no environmental review or determination is needed; and 

WHEREAS, all required public notices and public hearings were duly given and held according 
to law; and 

WHEREAS, at a duly and properly noticed public hearing held on March 25, 2024, the Planning 
Commission fully reviewed, considered, and evaluated the whole of the record including all 
public and written comments, pertinent information, documents and plans, prior to taking action. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE MENLO PARK PLANNING COMMISSION HEREBY RESOLVES AS 
FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  Recitals.  The Planning Commission has considered the full record before it, which 
may include but is not limited to such things as the staff report, public testimony, and other 

ATTACHMENT A

A1



Resolution No. 2024-XXX 
 

materials and evidence submitted or provided, and the Planning Commission finds the foregoing 
recitals are true and correct, and they are hereby incorporated by reference into this Resolution. 
 
Section 2.  Development Agreement Annual Review Findings.  The Planning Commission of the 
City of Menlo Park does hereby make the following Findings:   
 

1. Presidio Bay Ventures is in good faith compliance with the provisions of the 
approved Development Agreement for the period of October 2021 through March 
2024. 
 

Section 3.  SEVERABILITY  
 
If any term, provision, or portion of these findings or the application of these findings to a 
particular situation is held by a court to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining 
provisions of these findings, or their application to other actions related to the Project, shall 
continue in full force and effect unless amended or modified by the City. 
 
 
I, Kyle Perata, Assistant Community Development Director of the City of Menlo Park, do hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing Planning Commission Resolution was duly and regularly 
passed and adopted at a meeting by said Planning Commission on March 25, 2024, by the 
following votes: 
 
AYES:   
NOES:  
ABSENT:   
ABSTAIN:   
 
 
IN WITNESS THEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Official Seal of said City 
on this _____day of March, 2024 
 
PC Liaison Signature 
 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Kyle Perata 
Assistant Community Development Director  
City of Menlo Park 
 
 
Exhibits 
A. Approved Development Agreement 
B. Amendment to the Development Agreement 

A2



City of Menlo Park

Springline
Location Map

Date: 3/25/2024 4,000 Drawn By: CDS Checked By: KTP1: Sheet: 1Scale:

ATTACHMENT B

B1



Presidio Bay | Springline 

160 Pacific Avenue, Suite 204, San Francisco, CA 94111 

March 19, 2024 
Corinna Sandmeier, Principal Planner 
Thomas Rogers, Principal Planner  
City of Menlo Park  
701 Laurel Street  
Menlo Park, CA 94025 

Re: 1300 El Camino Real (Springline) Development Agreement – 2023 Annual Review  

Dear Corinna and Thomas: 

In accordance with the terms of the Development Agreement (“DA”) for the project at 1300-1302 
El Camino Real and 550-580 Oak Grove (the “Project”), this letter is intended to provide an update 
regarding the Project’s compliance with the DA to facilitate the upcoming annual review before 
the Planning Commission. 

As noted in our 2020 report, Presidio Bay Ventures has assumed overall management of the Project 
on behalf of the property owner. It has been a pleasure over the past few years to work with many 
members of City staff as well as to interact with all of the City Council, including the Mayor. We 
very much look forward to a collaborative and productive relationship for years to come.  

We understand that our last formal annual review was in September 2021, and at that time three 
of the five status updates were deemed “Complete”, with only the Dog Park and Sales Tax 
Guarantee being noted as “In Progress” or “No Further Action at the time”. With this update, we 
reflect the Dog Park as “Complete” and the Sales Tax Guarantee as “In Progress”, as further 
detailed in Attachment A below. Additionally, we have included updates as outlined in the 
Amendment to Development Agreement (“ADA”) as recorded on April 28, 2022.  

By the end of 2023, nearly all construction is complete and final Certificates of Occupancy have 
been received for all four building structures: two office buildings, one residential building and 
the subterranean parking garage. Remaining construction work is primarily attributed to final 
tenant improvement construction for Wells Fargo’s office space in the North Office building, and 
one remaining restaurant space on the ground floor of the Residential building. The Dog Park, 
several restaurants and other public spaces have been open and utilized for public and private 
events, including the Springline Grand Opening festivities in September 2023. Everyone with the 
City of Menlo Park has been instrumental in collaborating with the Springline team to ensure 
Springline’s continued efforts to be woven into the fabric of the Menlo Park community.  

Consistent with the process used for the 2019 and 2020 annual reviews, we have provided a 
compliance matrix (Attachment A) entitled “Development Agreement Obligations Status 
Summary” which lists the relevant public benefit provisions and requirements in the DA and ADA, 
and provides a status update. As shown, the Project is in full compliance and we therefore 
respectfully request that staff recommend that the Planning Commission determine that the Project 
has complied in good faith with the terms of the DA and ADA for purposes of this year’s annual 
review. 

ATTACHMENT E

E1



Presidio Bay | Springline

160 Pacific Avenue, Suite 204, San Francisco, CA 94111

As has been the case since Presidio Bay Ventures assumed management of Springline, I will 
personally represent the Project at the Planning Commission hearing and will be available to 
answer any questions from Commission members. If you have any questions or if there is any 
further information needed to facilitate the Planning Commission’s review, please do not hesitate 
to contact me directly.

Best regards,

K. Cyrus Sanandaji
Managing Director

cc: Justin Murphy, City Manager
Deanna Chow, Community Development Director 

Attachment A:  Development Agreement Obligations Status Summary

E2



Presidio Bay | Springline 
 

 160 Pacific Avenue, Suite 204, San Francisco, CA 94111 

Attachment A:  Development Agreement Obligations Status Summary 
 

      DA                                  Summarized 
    Term                        Task/Requirement/Action                      Status                                      Explanation 

§6 

Public Amenity Fund: 
Prior to the Garage Building Permit being issued, 
Applicant shall pay $1.05 Million to the 
Downtown Public Amenity Fund. Applicant 
shall make a second $1.05 Million payment to 
the same fund prior to any occupancy. Per 
Paragraph 2 of the ADA, Applicant shall make 
an additional payment of $300,000 to the City 
prior to issuance of a building permit for the 
buildout of the new basement areas. 

Complete Applicant has made all required payments. 

§7.1 

 
 
Dog Park:    
As part of the on-site improvements, Applicant 
will include an "open to the public" dog park as 
shown on DA Exhibit A per the public use 
agreement shown as DA Exhibit C. 

Complete 

 
 
 
 
Dog Park is open and available to the public. 

§7.2 

 
Sales Tax Guarantee:  
Applicant will guarantee to the City an agreed 
upon amount of sales tax revenue from the 
Project’s retail and office space. This obligation 
will start two years after the final office or 
residential building occupancy. 

Conditional, no 
action required  
at this time 

Occupancy was allowed in the final building 
on August 2, 2022. The applicant understands 
that the obligations under the Sales Tax 
Guarantee will begin on approximately 
August 2, 2024. Applicant will work with 
City staff to outline the process for 
compliance with the Sales Tax Guarantee. 

§7.3 

Marketing to Incubator/Co-Working Tenants: 
Applicant shall make a good faith effort to 
market the office space to incubator/co-working 
tenants as per the plan outlined in Exhibit D. 

Complete  

 
 
 
Canopy, Springline’s co-working operator, is 
open and has unreserved membership options 
for the general public. 

§7.4 

Affordable Housing: 
Applicant and the City to execute and record the 
BMR Housing Agreement. As detailed in 
Paragraph 3 of the ADA, Applicant shall pay a 
commercial in-lieu fee to the City in accordance 
with the City's BMR Guidelines prior to issuance 
of a building permit. 

Complete 

 
 
 
The Springline residential leasing team 
worked originally with HouseKeys, and now 
with Housing, Inc., to lease the 20 BMR 
units, of which 18 are leased, one is pending 
screening and one is vacant. The commercial 
in-lieu fee was paid in February 2022. 

 

E3


	20240325 PC Agenda
	E1_20230327 PC Draft Minutes
	E2_20240226 PC Draft Minutes
	E3_20240311 PC Draft Minutes
	F1_108 Blackburn Ave staff report
	ATT A - Resolution
	Exhibit A - Project Plans
	Exhibit B - Project Description Letter
	Exhibit C - COA

	ATT B - Location Map
	ATT C - Data Table
	ATT D - Arborist Report

	F2_919 Arnold Way staff report
	ATT A - Resolution
	EXHIBIT A - Project Plans
	EXHIBIT B - Project Description Letter
	EXHIBIT C - COA

	ATT B - Location Map - 919 Arnold
	ATT C - Data Table - 919 Arnold

	F3_500 ECR staff report
	ATT A - Draft Resolution
	ATT B - Location Map
	ATT D - Tracking development agreement

	F4_1300 ECR staff report
	ATT A - Draft Resolution
	ATT B - location map
	ATT E - Letter from Applicant


